
Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, 
audio-recorded, photographed or reported electronically 
by the use of social media by anyone attending.  This 
does not apply to any part of the meeting that is held in 
private session.

Please ask for:
Helen Johnson

21 January 2019

Dear Councillor

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE to be held on Tuesday 
29 January 2019 at 7.30 pm in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, The Campus, 
Welwyn Garden City, Herts, AL8 6AE.

Yours faithfully

Corporate Director
Public Protection, Planning and Governance

A G E N D A
PART 1

SECTION A - PROCEDURAL BUSINESS AND POLICY REVIEW AND DEVELOPMENT 
ITEMS

1.  SUBSTITUTION OF MEMBERS 

To note any substitution of Members made in accordance with Council Procedure 
Rules 19-22.

2.  APOLOGIES 

3.  MINUTES 

To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 13 November 
2018 (previously circulated).

4.  ACTIONS UPDATE (Pages 7 - 8)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) 
lists the actions from previous meetings and their current status.

Public Document Pack



5.  NOTIFICATION OF URGENT BUSINESS TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER ITEM 25 

6.  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS BY MEMBERS 

To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-disclosable 
pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items on the Agenda.

7.  PUBLIC QUESTION TIME AND PETITIONS 

Up to fifteen minutes will be made available for questions from members of the 
public on issues relating to the work of the Committee and to receive any petitions.

8.  PERFORMANCE INDICATORS QUARTER TWO (Pages 9 - 20)

Report of the Corporate Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural Services) 
which sets out the performance data collected for those services that fall within its 
remit. It provides Quarter Two for 2018-19, along with comparative information.  

9.  DRIVEWAY KEEP CLEAR POLICY AND PRICING STRATEGY (Pages 21 - 24)

Report of the Corporate Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural Services) 
which sets out changes to applications for and installations of H-B road markings. 
H-B road markings ensure that an area adjacent to a dropped curb is kept clear of 
parked vehicles.

10.  PEST CONTROL UPDATE (Pages 25 - 38)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) 
which updates Members on the current pest control contract, activities of the team 
and levels of pest control enforcement action over the past year.

11.  DEFRA'S RESOURCES AND WASTE STRATEGY- SUMMARY (Pages 39 - 42)

Report of the Corporate Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural Services) 
which updates Members on the key aspects of DEFRA’s Resources and Waste 
Strategy.

12.  SAFETY ADVISORY TEAM UPDATE 

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) 
which updates members on the Safety Advisory Team’s work, via a presentation.

13.  RESILIENCE UPDATE (Pages 43 - 46)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) 
which updates Members on the principal resilience activities that have been 
carried out by the Risk and Resilience Team over the last year.

14.  SERVICE STANDARDS FOR REGULATORY WORK (Pages 47 - 52)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) 



which sets out the requirement for a consultation on potential updates to the 
Council’s current standards of regulatory work, which is carried out by various 
teams, to ensure that it is still valid.

15.  EAT OUT EAT WELL UPDATE (Pages 53 - 56)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) 
which updates Members on the delivery of the Eat Out Eat Well healthy eating 
award for food business complaint with food hygiene and food standard 
regulations.

16.  DEFRA CONSULTATION - PROTECTING AND ENHANCING ENGLAND'S 
TREES AND WOODLANDS (Pages 57 - 64)

Report of the Corporate Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural Services) 
which sets out the recent DEFRA consultation on Protecting and Enhancing 
Britain’s Trees and Woods which looks to protect urban trees and imposes duties 
on local authorities, in particular to consult communities on the felling of street 
trees. The report includes the Council’s proposed responses to the consultation.

17.  COMMUNITY TOILET SCHEME (Pages 65 - 76)

Report of the Corporate Director (Planning, Public Protection and Governance) 
which sets out the case to implement a community toilet scheme within Welwyn 
Hatfield.

18.  REVIEW OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE TERMS AND CONDITIONS (Pages 77 - 88)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) 
which sets out the revised Hackney Carriage terms and conditions (Appendix A) as 
agreed by the review group which was set up last year.  The revised terms and 
conditions specify the requirement for wheelchair accessible vehicles, and it is 
requested they are released for consultation (as set out in Appendix B).

19.  COMMITTEE OVERVIEW WORK PROGRAMME 2018/19 (Pages 89 - 90)

The pro-forma which sets out the Committee’s overview work programme has 
been updated since the last meeting to enable forward planning of items to be 
considered to take place.  Items which the Committee agrees it would like to 
consider will be scheduled into the work programme.

20.  RESPONSE FROM CABINET/COUNCIL TO RECOMMENDATIONS FROM 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

There are no responses to report.



SECTION B - SCRUTINY ITEMS - EXECUTIVE MEMBERS ARE EXCLUDED FROM 
THIS PART OF THE MEETING

21.  CONSIDERATION OF ITEMS FOR SCRUTINY 

To consider

(1) whether any Cabinet decisions should be scrutinised post-implementation 
(Paragraph 14.1 of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules) 

(2) whether any items which relate to areas covered by the Committee which a 
member of the Committee may wish to raise with a view to deciding whether 
an issue should be scrutinised.

The Administration and Opposition Groups each have the right within the Municipal 
Year to have one scrutiny topic referred to a Sub-Committee.

Where the Committee decides an issue should be scrutinised, a scrutiny Sub-
Committee should be appointed to carry out the specific piece of scrutiny work 
(Paragraph 6.3 of the Procedure for the Operation of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Function).

22.  COMMITTEE SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME 2018/19 

No scrutiny reviews are currently programmed.

23.  RESPONSE FROM CABINET/COUNCIL TO SCRUTINY 
RECOMMENDATIONS/REPORTS 

There are no responses to report to this meeting.

24.  COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION 

To receive any request from a Councillor for a discussion on behalf of residents on 
an issue affecting a single council ward where local problems have arisen and 
other methods of resolution have been exhausted.

25.  SUCH OTHER BUSINESS AS, IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIRMAN, IS OF 
SUFFICIENT URGENCY TO WARRANT IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION 

26.  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

The Committee is asked to resolve:

That under Section 100(A)(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be now excluded from the meeting for item 27 and 28 (if any) on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of confidential or exempt information 
as defined in Section 100(A)(3) of Paragraphs 2 (identity of an individual) and 7 
(prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
said Act (as amended).



In resolving to exclude the public in respect of the exempt information, it is 
considered that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information.

PART II - PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL ITEMS

27.  HACKNEY CARRIAGE ENFORCEMENT REVIEW 2017-2018 (Pages 91 - 96)

Exempt report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and 
Governance) which provides Members with a summary of work carried out over 
the last year, including officer’s decisions that have contributed to public protection.

28.  ANY OTHER BUSINESS OF A CONFIDENTIAL OR EXEMPT NATURE AT THE 
DISCRETION OF THE CHAIRMAN 

Circulation: Councillors S.Glick (Chairman)
J.Cragg (Vice-Chairman)
M.Birleson
H.Bower
J.Broach
M.Cowan

K.Holman
T.Jackson-Mynott
S.Kasumu
R.Trigg
J.Weston

Co-opted Members:-
Tenants’ Panel Representatives
J.Armstrong-Bridges and J.Corson

Corporate Management Team
Press and Public (except Part II Items)

If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Helen 
Johnson, Governance Services on 01707 357467 or email – 
democracy@welhat.gov.uk 

mailto:democracy@welhat.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



       Part I
       Main author: Helen Johnson

Executive Member: Cllr Stephen Boulton
       Not Ward Specific

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE –29 JANUARY 2019
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING AND 
GOVERNANCE)

ACTIONS STATUS REPORT

1 Executive Summary

1.1 In order to ensure that actions identified at meetings are completed, this report lists the actions 
from the meeting on 13 November 2018, those responsible for completing each action and their 
current status.

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 That Members note the status of actions which were identified at the 13 November 2018 
meeting of the Committee.

Minute Action Responsible Status/Date Completed

26

Hackney Carriage 
Terms and 
Conditions Review 
Group

James 
Vaughan

The draft revised set of hackney carriage 
terms and conditions will be presented to 
EOSC at 29 January 2019 meeting.

28 Street Trading 
Policy Kate Payne

The Welwyn Hatfield Street Trading Policy 
had been submitted to Cabinet on 6 
November 2018, for the recommendation of 
its adoption by Council.

Note: It was adopted by Council on 19 
November 2018 (Minute 45.2).

29

Adoption of the 
Welwyn Hatfield 
Council Statement 
of Principles under 
the Gambling Act 
2005

Kate Payne

The updated Welwyn Hatfield Statement of 
Principles (Gambling Act 2005) has been 
submitted to Cabinet on 6 November 2018, 
for the recommendation of its adoption by 
Council.

Note: It was adopted by Council on 19 
November 2018 (Minute 45.1).

37 
Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 
Progress Update

Jeanette 
Hollingsworth-
Biggs

The Public Health Summit for the borough is 
in the process of being organised. The 
consultation on the Draft Public Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy is due to be carried out 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



and the results will be brought back to 
EOSC for consideration prior to being 
submitted Cabinet for recommendation to 
Full Council for adoption. 

The Leader of the Council has written to the 
government about the issue of permitted 
development rights.

Officers of the Planning team have 
responded to the recent government 
consultation on permitted development 
writes and raised concerns about the 
existing permitted development rights. 

42

Consideration of 
Items for Scrutiny 
– EOSC Sub 
Group on parking 
on verges

Vikki Hatfield

The scrutiny sub-group has been set up with 
each group putting forward Members to 
form the group.  The first meeting of the sub-
group is in the process of being arranged. 

Name of author Helen Johnson 01707 357467
Title Governance Services Officer
Date 15 January 2019

Page 8



1

Part I
Main author: Grace Crawford
Executive Member: Cllr Tony Kingsbury
All Wards

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 29 JANUARY 2019
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (RESOURCES, ENVIRONMENT AND 
CULTURAL SERVICES)

PERFORMANCE INDICATOR REPORT 

1 Executive Summary

1.1 This report and accompanying presentation provides the Committee with the 
performance indicator data collected for those services that fall within its remit. It 
provides Quarter 2 along with comparative information where possible. 

1.2 Taken together, this report and presentation enables this Committee to identify 
which of our services are improving, not improving or remaining the same in their 
key performance areas. Service comments are also included to explain the 
performance shown, along with any further action needed.

1.3 In view of the volume of performance indicators set out in this report, Committee 
members are encouraged to discuss those of interest on an exception basis only.

2 Recommendations

2.1 It is recommended that this Committee:

 Note the performance indicator data collected and reported.  

 Discuss and agree any feedback to be provided to our service teams on the 
trends shown in these performance indicators.

3 Explanation

3.1 We use performance indicators to measure how well we are performing and 
improving our services over time. We can use them to help plan for future service 
improvements where the service is consistent with our published corporate 
priorities set out in the council’s Business Plan 2018-21.  

3.2 Targets are developed by Heads of Service in liaison with their Executive Director. 
They are performance managed both through our Committees and through our 
internal performance clinics. The latter are held quarterly and are chaired by the 
Leader of the Council, with all Executive Members attending in turn to discuss their 
respective service performance. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 8



2

Implications

4 Legal Implication

4.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from this report.

5 Financial Implication

5.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from the production of this report.

6 Risk Management Implication

6.1 There are no direct risk management implications arising from the production of 
this report.

7 Security & Terrorism Implication

7.1 There are no direct security and terrorism implications arising from this report.

8 Procurement Implication

8.1 There are no direct procurement implications arising from this report.

9 Climate Change Implication

9.1 There are no direct climate change implications arising from this report.

10 Health and Wellbeing Implication

10.1 There are no health and wellbeing implications directly arising from the contents of 
this report.

11 Communication and Engagement Implication

11.1 There are no communication and engagement implications directly arising from the 
contents of this report.

12 Link to Corporate Priorities

12.1 This report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority ‘Our Council’.

13 Equality and Diversity

13.1 An equalities impact assessment was not completed for the collection and reporting 
of performance indicators.

Name of author: Grace Crawford 
Title: Senior Performance and Strategy Officer
Date: December 2018

Background Paper:

EOSC Performance Indicator Presentation – Quarter 2 (2018-19)

Page 10



21/01/19

1

EOSC Performance Indicators
Quarter 2   2018-19

Grace Crawford

Senior Performance & Strategy Officer

Performance Indicator – 17
Reduce the level of residual household waste collected per head of the population (kg)

Q2

50 5049

46

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2017/18 2018/19
Target Actual

Performance Trend

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

Service Comments

The amount of residual household waste collected per head is within the target.

Page 11



21/01/19

2

Performance Indicator – 18
Percentage of household waste collected and sent for reuse, recycling and composting

Q2

42% 42%
44% 44%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

Performance Trend

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

2017/18 2018/19
Target Actual

Service Comments

The recycling rate achieved for Q2 has exceeded the target.

Performance Indicator – 19
The cleaner local streets survey rating based on amount of litter and detritus

Q2
95.00% 95.00%96.50% 97.90%

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

Performance Trend

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

2017/18 2018/19
Target Actual

Service Comments

An overall pass rate of nearly 98% has been achieved, exceeding the target this quarter.

Page 12



21/01/19

3

Performance Indicator – 20
The percentage of residents either ‘satisfied’ or ‘very satisfied’ with street cleansing 

(e.g. litter and sweeping services) 

Q2

75.00% 75.00%
70.10% 68.60%

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

Performance Trend

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

Service Comments

Satisfaction with cleansing in Q2 ranged from 62% to 77% in different areas across the borough and has 
averaged at 68.6%, which is below the quarterly target. Some reasons for dissatisfaction were noted as 
visible litter and frequency of cleansing on streets. It is, however, pleasing to see that in some parts of 
Hatfield, including the town centre we have achieved a satisfaction with cleansing of 77%. This likely 
reflects the changes to the cleansing schedules we have made in this area and Officers will work with 
Serco to continue to improve the schedules in other areas, as appropriate. 

Performance Indicator – 21
The percentage of residents either ‘satisfied’ or ‘very satisfied’ with 

local recycling and waste collection services

Q2

70.00% 70.00%

84.80% 77.70%

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

Performance Trend

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

Service Comments

The overall satisfaction of local recycling and waste collection services is nearly 78%, exceeding 
the target this quarter.

Page 13



21/01/19

4

Performance Indicator – 22
The percentage of reported/justified missed bins per quarter

Q2

0.30% 0.30%

0.35%

0.17%

0.00%

0.05%

0.10%

0.15%

0.20%

0.25%

0.30%

0.35%

0.40%

2017/18 2018/19
Target Actual

Performance Trend

0.00%

0.05%

0.10%

0.15%

0.20%

0.25%

0.30%

0.35%

0.40%

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

Service Comments

Missed bins are within the target for Q2 and have improved compared to the last years performance.

Performance Indicator – 23
Completion rate of all tree maintenance work within the planned programme

Q2 Performance Trend

Service Comments

A total of 307 jobs were issued this quarter. However six of the jobs issued could not be carried out through 
no fault of the contractor. These six jobs have been excluded from the KPI stats to leave a total of 301 jobs 
issued. The contractor completed all 301 jobs with the timescale given. Monthly meetings with the contract 
manger and having regular contact with the tree crews on a weekly basis ensures we are able to monitor the 
works and ensure they are completed on time.

95.00% 95.00%100.00% 100.00%

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

2017/18 2018/19
Target Actual

Page 14



21/01/19

5

Performance Indicator – 24
The percentage of residents ‘satisfied’ with local open spaces 

(e.g. parks, trees and woodlands)

Q2 Performance Trend

Service Comments

The council continues to manage trees and plant new trees in accordance with its Trees & Woodlands 
Strategy.  Over the course of 2018 there has been a very successful project to remove mature 
Lombardy Poplars, with good communications and advanced notification to residents, and a slightly 
longer-term plan to replace many of these removed trees.

70.00% 70.00%69.60% 71.14%

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

Performance Indicator – 25
The percentage of all minor and other planning applications processed and decided on 

within 8 weeks

Q2 Performance Trend

Service Comments

Performance has been exceeded this quarter with 230 of 253 applications determined within statutory 
periods, or agreed extensions of time.

65.00%
70.00%

84.00%
90.91%

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

Page 15



21/01/19

6

Performance Indicator – 26
The percentage of all major planning applications processed and decided on 

within 13 weeks

Q2 Performance Trend

Service Comments

This performance indicator has been exceeded in this quarter with 100% of major applications 
determined within the statutory timeframes.

70.00% 70.00%

89.00%

100.00%

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

Performance Indicator – 27
The percentage of major planning application appeals allowed against the council’s 

decision - as a percentage of the total number of appeals

Q2

Service Comments

No major planning appeals were received in this quarter.

Less than 
10%

0%
0%

10%

20%

30%

2018/19

Target

Page 16



21/01/19

7

Performance Indicator – 58
The percentage of minor planning application appeals allowed against the council’s 

decision - as a percentage of the total number of appeals

Q2

Service Comments

8 appeal decisions were received in this quarter, of which 4 were allowed. Therefore the target was not met, 
and this reflects the situation in the previous two quarters. 
The number of appeal decisions received in any one quarter can vary significantly, and the Planning 
Inspectorate is experiencing a significant backlog in decision making. Officers will continue to monitor any 
identifiable trends in decision making by the Inspectorate, and consider adapting approaches accordingly. 
It is noted that one of the appeals which was allowed as for an application that was refused by Development 
Management Committee, contrary to the recommendation of officers.  For context, officers deal with about 
500 planning applications per quarter and about 15 cases are determined by Development Management 
Committee.

Less than 
10.00%

50.00%

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

2018/19
Target Actual

Performance Indicator – 28
The percentage of planning enforcement investigations completed 

within the stated timescale

Q2 Performance Trend

Service Comments
No cases within the relevant categories were received this quarter, and so no investigations can be 
commenced. By way of context, only enforcement complaints falling within priorities A and B inform this 
performance indicator. These priorities are set out in the Council's adopted Planning Enforcement Plan (PEP). 
Category A covers unauthorised works to listed buildings; trees covered by a Tree Preservation Order or trees 
within a designated conservation area. These enforcement complaints are targeted to start as soon as 
possible, and in any case within 2 working days. Category B covers significant development conflicting with 
policy, where that is apparent from the complaint; ongoing building works or material changes of use with a 
serious impact on amenity. Unauthorised advertisements adjacent to the highway that may distract road 
users. These enforcement complaints are targeted to start as soon as possible, and in any case within 5 
working days. It can be seen as a positive that complaints within these categories are not being received by 
the Council.

87% 87%

100%

0%
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2017/18 2018/19
Target Actual

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2017/18 2018/19
Target Actual

Page 17



21/01/19

8

Performance Indicator – 6
Process all hackney carriage and private hire licences 

(e.g. taxis and minicabs, drivers and operators) within the stated timescale

Q2 Performance Trend

Service Comments

This period has seen successful appeals in the courts whereby 100% of cases have been dismissed.  We 
also continue to hit 100% in issuing and granting of licenses as well as delivering of CSE training to the 
trade which has been warmly welcomed by all drivers, many commenting on how well the training has been 
delivered and how useful it is to them.  

Administration is up to date and cleared on a daily basis with all renewals and reminders hitting target.  
Complaints have been dealt with quickly and efficiently and there have been a number of cases which we 
have been able to follow up at Committee which have received satisfactory decisions following complaints. 

100% 100%100% 100%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2017/18 2018/19
Target Actual

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2017/18 2018/19
Target Actual

Performance Indicator – 7
Process all local licences (including alcohol, premises, animal establishments) 

within the stated timescales

Q2 Performance Trend

Service Comments

All issued in timescales. One licence was issued but was awaiting a signature so there was a delay in 
posting to the licence holder. The date in M3 reflects the date the licence was sent and not the day it 
was issued.

100% 100%100% 100%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2017/18 2018/19
Target Actual

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2017/18 2018/19
Target Actual

Page 18



21/01/19

9

Performance Indicator – 42
The number of ‘Operation Reprise’ calls attended as a percentage of calls received

Q2 Performance Trend

Service Comments

It is not always possible to attend to every single call made to the service. In some cases the caller 
requests that we stand down as the situation has improved and no longer requires our service. On some 
occasions the caller does not actually want us to attend.  

It is useful to note that the time taken to attend each call varies greatly. One single case could take up the 
majority of the shift meaning some calls may not receive a visit.

85% 85%
91%

97%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2017/18 2018/19
Target Actual

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2017/18 2018/19
Target Actual

Performance Indicator – 43
The percentage of ‘Operation Reprise’ callers provided with advice

Q2 Performance Trend

Service Comments

In the vast majority of cases we provide advice to the caller and if feasible to the perpetrator. It is a key part 
of the service. We always endeavour to provide advice and support, although occasionally, if they do not 
answer we are unable to make contact to the caller either on the phone or at their premises.

90% 90%90%
96%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2017/18 2018/19
Target Actual

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2017/18 2018/19
Target Actual

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Part 1
Main author: Vikki Hatfield
Executive Member: Stephen Boulton
Ward: Handside Ward

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 29 JANUARY 2019
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (RESOURCES, ENVIRONMENT AND 
CULTURAL SERVICES)

DRIVEWAY KEEP CLEAR POLICY AND PRICING STRATEGY

1 Executive Summary

1.1 Hertfordshire County Council have discontinued the practice of putting in H-Bars 
within the Borough. Parking Services receive a number of requests from residents 
regarding the provision of H-Bar road markings (also known as access protection 
markings, vehicular entrance markings etc.) An H-Bar is an elongated white ‘H’ on 
the carriageway that is marked across a vehicular crossing where there is a 
dropped kerb. Their main purpose is to remind drivers there is an access present 
and the area should be kept clear of parked vehicles. 

1.2 H-Bars are only advisory and are not legally enforceable similar to advisory 
disabled bays. In the vast majority of advisory disabled bays are honoured by 
roads users. Particularly in area which do not want any formal restrictions this 
would provide an alternative by providing a visual deterrent to drivers.

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 The Committee recommends to Cabinet to approve the process outlined in 3.4; 
and to instigate discussions with Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) with a view 
to amend the current Parking Services Agency Agreement, to allow Welwyn 
Hatfield Council to carry out this type of work.

3 Explanation

3.1 HCC are responsible for the installation of H-Bar road markings but have 
discontinued the practise. Many local authorities up and down the country have 
varying approaches to providing to residents.

3.2 The costs for providing H-Bar markings also vary widely. Many authorities charge 
a non-returnable survey fee for the initial application which covers the inspection 
and response. An additional fee is then requested for the installation. The cost for 
refreshing a H-Bar, once installed, is borne by the authority and carried out as part 
of their general maintenance. Some councils dispense with an application fee, but 
charge for the installation of the markings, with an additional fee for any 
refreshment remarking.

3.3 Officers are proposing to adopt the following process:

 The resident completes an applications form for an H-Bar and make 
payment. The form will then be passed through to Parking Services.

 An officer will go out to the site and if possible meet with the resident to 
measure the length of the proposed H-Bar. See Appendix A. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 9



2

 This will then be added to the next lining order (these are carried out twice 
a year)

 The drawing will be kept on file if the residents decides to have this 
refreshed at a later date.

 It is intended that any lining works will be added to the next lining order of 
which the Council carry out two orders per year. These are carried out 
between April-September when the weather is generally better.

3.4 If residents already have an H-Bar marking, which was originally marked out by 
HCC, they will have to apply for the initial application. This is because an officer 
will still need to go out on site, produce a design and manage the process with a 
line marking contractor.

3.5 Officers are intending to make this service cost neutral. If Hertfordshire County 
Council are amenable to Welwyn Hatfield taking on this type of work. Costs will 
be form part of the Council’s budget setting process with a view to having this 
available to residents in 2020/2021, dependent on Council approval.

4 Legal Implication(s)

4.1 WHBC currently carries out the Borough’s Parking Management through an 
Agency Agreement with HCC. If the Committee recommend for this new service 
to be included within Parking Services remit. Discussions will need to take place 
with Officers at HCC to amend the Agency Agreement to include with work.

5 Financial Implication(s)

5.1 There are no known financial implications for the Council arising from this report.

6 Risk Management Implications

As mentioned this type of marking is only advisory and not enforceable. The 
applicant would need to be made aware of this at the time they apply for this work. 

7 Security & Terrorism Implications

7.1 There are no known security & terrorism implications inherent in relation to the 
proposals in this report.

8 Human Resources

8.1 There are no known Human Resources implications in relation to the proposals in 
this report.

9 Communication and Engagement

9.1 Any application form must mentioned how the process work and the timescales 
involved. It must also make clear that this type of marking is only advisory and not 
enforceable.

Page 22



3

10 Health and Wellbeing

10.1 There are no known Health and Wellbeing implications in relation to the proposals 
in this report.

11 Procurement Implications

11.1 There are no known procurement implications in relation to the proposals in this 
report.

12 Climate Change Implication(s)

12.1 There are no known climate change implications in relation to the proposals in this 
report.

13 Link to Corporate Priorities

13.1 This report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority Protect and Enhance the 
Environment, and specifically to the achievement to Deliver Effective Parking 
Services

 Protect and enhance the environment and deliver effective parking 
services;

 Engage with our communities and provide value for money

14 Equality and Diversity

14.1 An EqIA I confirm that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has been carried 
out. 

14.2 The EqIA found that there is potential for positive impacts on Age, Pregnancy and 
Disability. The advisory white line (H Bar) could help residents to enter and exit 
their private property more easily. Therefore, could encourage those vulnerable 
residents to go out more.

Name of author Vikki Hatfield 01707 357555
Title Parking and Cemetery Services Manager
Date 7 January 2019

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Part I
Main author: Jeannette Hollingsworth
Executive Member: Fiona Thomson 
All Wards

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 29 JANUARY 2018
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING AND 
GOVERNANCE)

PEST CONTROL UPDATE

1 Executive Summary

1.1 This report provides members with the annual update relating to the pest control 
contract currently awarded to the council appointed contractor, SDK 
Environmental Ltd (“Dial a Pest”). It highlights the extent of pest control 
treatments and activities by them during the period April 2017 to March 2018. It 
also provides information on the levels of pest control enforcement action 
undertaken by the council’s Public Health and Protection Service during the same 
period. 

1.2 The report makes reference to the undertaking of the scrutiny sub-committee. 

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 For members to note the report, the performance of the contractor and the work 
and services that have been provided. 

3 Explanation

3.1 The duties on Local Authorities are to keep their own land free from rats and mice 
and to enforce that other owners/occupiers do the same. 

3.2 The Council provides a subsidised contracted pest control service that is 
available to householders, regardless of tenure, throughout the district. The 
service runs independently from the Council with customers needing to contact 
the contractor’s call centre directly to arrange and pay for treatment.

3.3 This service also provides treatment for Council owned land and buildings and 
assists in the Council fulfilling its statutory functions under the Prevention of 
Damage of Pests Act 1949 Sec 4 (PDPA). 

3.4 There is no statutory requirement on Local Authorities to provide a pest control 
contract. However, in order to fulfil its own duties Welwyn Hatfield Borough 
Council have a contract with SDK Ltd to carry out proactive inspections and 
reactive treatments. 

3.5 Without effective pest management, pest infestations will increase and will result 
in increasing incidents of pest borne disease, damage to buildings and risk to 
food businesses. 

3.6 Pest control remains an important public service to residents of the Borough and 
is of particular relevance to the most disadvantaged. The service is also important 
to meet future challenges brought about by climate change and by increased 

Page 25

Agenda Item 10



- 2 -

movement of goods, animals and people. In providing this affordable service the 
council will continue to play a key role in protecting public health. 

3.7 Due to some concern by officers and members of the public including postings 
on social media of the high levels of rats in Hatfield an extensive extra treatment 
plan was funded by the Council and carried out by SDK ltd.  

3.8 In addition an EOSC scrutiny sub committee was formed to look specifically at 
the prevalence and eradication of rats in the Borough.  During February and 
March 2018 there was a number of meetings, examination and presentations to 
the subcommittee. It was agreed that as the scrutiny exercise had to be 
concluded by the end of the Municipal Year that the recommendations be 
presented to the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee on Monday, 26 
March 2018 and Cabinet on 3 April 2018.

3.9 An action plan was agreed with a number of long term and strategic targets 
including the need to replicate the model of partnership working to address the 
rat infestation in Hatfield Town Centre in other areas.  This work should be used 
to inform how the Council deal with issues such as this in future.  The issue may 
not just be confined to an infestation of rats however the methodology and 
approach can be used to form the basis of the cross Council protocol in how 
matters significantly affecting two or more wards or teams be addressed.

3.10 The targets of the action plan are still in progress to be completed by the end of 
the financial year.

3.11 The contract with SDK will expire on 31 March 2019. Although the new contract 
is under the £100000 financial threshold for going through The General 
Procurement Board, due to the nature of the contract it was deemed appropriate 
to be under the same scrutiny as other major contracts. 

3.12 The Board agreed the concessionary prices and agreed that they provided value 
for money and that any increase would deter people from using the service. The 
need for residents to use a reputable contractor to keep pest numbers down 
overrides the need to raise prices.   As this in return would create other 
environmental issues for the Borough. A price comparison between local 
authorities was provided.

3.13  The Board agreed that the default price/quality split should be 50/50.  The tender 
process and timeline was agreed. The contract will be awarded in February 2019. 

3.14   Regular quarterly contract review meetings are held between the Council and 
SDK. These are an effective way of managing the contract and maintaining a 
good client/contractor relationship. Issues ranging from quality control, technical 
advice, vulnerable people, complaints and approach to complex cases are 
discussed.  Agreed minutes are kept from these meetings. 

3.15 Charts showing enforcement actions, numbers of treatments carried out annually 
and monthly are included in the appendices. It can be seen that there is a distinct 
drop in treatments carried out from the previous financial year. 

Page 26



- 3 -

Implications

4 Legal Implication(s)

4.1 The council is not obliged to provide a pest control service, but is under a legal 
duty to keep its own land free from rats and mice and to enforce the Prevention of 
Damage by Pests Act 1949 throughout the borough. 

4.2 The council and contractor are generally required to comply with the Health and 
Safety at Work etc Act 1974. Sometimes this results in certain requests for service 
not being undertaken by the Contractor due to risk to their staff. For example, they 
will not enter unboarded lofts or work at height where there is a risk of injury. 

5 Risk Management Implications

5.1 The risks related to this proposal are:

5.2 The risks to public health from certain pests are well understood and documented. 
The council pest control contract can assist with reducing such risks. 

5.3 The council is at risk of legal challenge if it fails to meet its legal duties under the 
Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949

5.4 There is a reputational risk to the Council by the general misapprehension of 
Council powers with respect to pest control. 

5.5 Inappropriate use of pesticide products can create risks to children and wildlife, 
employing the services of a competent contractor reduces this risk. 

6 Security and Terrorism Implication(s)

6.1 Certain pesticide products in the wrong hands could be used for inappropriate 
purposes, employing the services of a competent contractor reduces this risk. 

7 Procurement Implication(s)

7.1 The contract is due to expire at the end of the financial year and is currently going 
through the procurement process. 

8 Climate Change Implication(s)

8.1 As the climate changes it is likely that the range of pests we will see in the UK may 
change. This may have longer term implications for the scope of the contract and 
the services which are provided. 

9 Human Resources Implication(s)

9.1 None

10 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s)

10.1 There are health protection implications if there is a significant infestation of public 
health pest either in a business or residential environment as it is widely 
documented that certain pests carry communicable disease and pathogenic 
bacterial organisms. 

Page 27



- 4 -

11 Communication and Engagement Implication(s)

11.1 Positive reporting is needed to ensure the wider public are aware of the work 
carried out by the Council to deal with infestations.  Educational messages 
regarding reducing sources of available food are an ongoing requirement.

12 Link to Corporate Priorities and Objectives

12.1 1. Our Community - Promoting inclusive and safe communities and Improving 
public health and well-being

2. Our Environment - Keeping our streets clean

3. Our Council - Achieving value for money. Also linked to statutory provisions 
under pest control legislation.

13 Equality and Diversity

13.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has been carried out in connection with 
this pest control contract. The results of that EIA have been used to inform the 
contract provision, especially as regards to vulnerable clients 

Name of author Jeannette Hollingsworth 01707 357204
Title Team Leader (Public Health and Protection)
Date December 2018

Appendices

Pest Control Statistics: April 2017-March 2018 

Page 28



Year Month Bed Bugs Black Ants Carpet BeeFleas Mice Moths Rats Squirrels Wasps CockroachesHornets Clusterflies
2017 April 1 1 1 2 8 1 43 2 24 0 0 0 Apr‐17 Month April May June July August SeptemberOctober November December January February March
2017 May 0 1 0 1 4 0 40 1 57 0 0 0 May‐17 Bed Bugs 1 0 1 2 3 1 1 1 2 4 2 1
2017 June 1 1 1 1 8 1 21 0 34 0 0 0 Jun‐17 Black Ants 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
2017 July 2 0 0 3 6 1 39 0 59 3 0 0 Jul‐17 Carpet Bee 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
2017 August 3 0 0 1 9 0 28 0 45 0 3 0 Aug‐17 Fleas 2 1 1 3 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
2017 September 1 0 0 0 20 0 26 0 20 0 0 0 Sep‐17 Mice 8 4 8 6 9 20 7 20 7 20 8 9
2017 October 1 0 0 1 7 1 21 1 33 0 0 0 Oct‐17 Moths 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 0
2017 November 1 0 0 0 20 1 30 0 8 3 0 0 Nov‐17 Rats 43 40 21 39 28 26 21 30 15 58 33 42
2017 December 2 0 0 0 7 0 15 2 3 0 0 2 Dec‐17 Squirrels 2 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 2 2 0 0
2018 January 4 0 0 0 20 58 2 0 0 0 0 Jan‐18 Wasps 24 57 34 59 45 20 33 8 3 0 1 0
2018 February 2 0 0 0 8 0 33 0 1 0 0 0 Feb‐18 Cockroache 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0
2018 March 1 0 0 1 9 0 42 0 0 0 0 0 Mar‐18 Hornets 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Clusterflies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0

BED BUGS 1
BLACK ANT 1
CARPET BE 1
FLEAS 2
MICE 8
MOTHS 1
RATS 43
SQUIRRELS 2
WASPS 24
Cockroache 0
Hornets 0
Clusterflies 0P

age 29



Month Pest type Amount
BED BUGS 1
FLEAS 2
MICE 11
RATS 30
WASPS 8
BED BUGS 3
COCKROAC 1
FLEAS 1
MICE 11
RATS 33
WASPS 52
BED BUGS 4
BLACK ANT 1
COCKROAC 1
FLEAS 7
HORNETS 1
MICE 10
RATS 30
WASPS 211
BED BUGS 1
BLACK ANT 1
COCKROAC 2
FLEAS 10
MICE 8
RATS 32
WASPS 260
BED BUGS 3
BLACK ANT 5
COCKROAC 2
FLEAS 5
HORNETS 3
MICE 6
RATS 38
WASPS 126
BED BUGS 7
BLACK ANT 2
MICE 6
RATS 37
WASPS 29
BED BUGS 2
BLACK ANT 1
COCKROAC 1
MICE 8
MOTHS 1
RATS 34
BED BUGS 1
BLACK ANT 1
FLEAS 3
MICE 13
RATS 40
WASPS 5
BED BUGS 1
FLEAS 1
MICE 6
RATS 46
WASPS 1
BED BUGS 1
BLACK ANT 1
CARPET BE 1
FLEAS 2
MICE 8
MOTHS 1
RATS 43
WASPS 24
SQUIRRELS 2

May‐16

Apr‐16

Mar‐16

Apr‐17

Nov‐16

Oct‐16

Sep‐16

Aug‐16

Jul‐16

Jun‐16

Page 30



BED BUGS 1
BLACK ANTS 1
CARPET BEETLES 1
FLEAS 2
MICE 8
MOTHS 1
RATS 43
SQUIRRELS 2
WASPS 24
Cockroaches 0
Hornets 0
Clusterflies 0
BED BUGS 0
BLACK ANTS 1
CARPET BEETLES 0
FLEAS 1
MICE 4
MOTHS 0
RATS 40
SQUIRRELS 1
WASPS 57
Cockroaches 0
Hornets 0
Clusterflies 0
BED BUGS 1
BLACK ANTS 1
CARPET BEETLES 1
FLEAS 1
MICE 8
MOTHS 1
RATS 21
SQUIRRELS 0
WASPS 34
Cockroaches 0
Hornets 0
Clusterflies 0
BED BUGS 2
BLACK ANTS 0
CARPET BEETLES 0
FLEAS 3
MICE 6
MOTHS 1
RATS 39
SQUIRRELS 0
WASPS 59
Cockroaches 3
Hornets 0
Clusterflies 0
BED BUGS 3
BLACK ANTS 0
CARPET BEETLES 0
FLEAS 1
MICE 9
MOTHS 0
RATS 28
SQUIRRELS 0

Apr‐17

May‐17

Jun‐17

Jul‐17

Aug‐17

P
age 31



WASPS 45
Cockroaches 0
Hornets 3
Clusterflies 0
BED BUGS 1
BLACK ANTS 0
CARPET BEETLES 0
FLEAS 0
MICE 20
MOTHS 0
RATS 26
SQUIRRELS 0
WASPS 20
Cockroaches 0
Hornets 0
Clusterflies 0
BED BUGS 1
BLACK ANTS 0
CARPET BEETLES 0
FLEAS 1
MICE 7
MOTHS 1
RATS 21
SQUIRRELS 1
WASPS 33
Cockroaches 0
Hornets 0
Clusterflies 0
BED BUGS 1
BLACK ANTS 0
CARPET BEETLES 0
FLEAS 0
MICE 20
MOTHS 1
RATS 30
SQUIRRELS 0
WASPS 8
Cockroaches 3
Hornets 0
Clusterflies 0
BED BUGS 2
BLACK ANTS 0
CARPET BEETLES 0
FLEAS 0
MICE 7
MOTHS 0
RATS 15
SQUIRRELS 2
WASPS 3
Cockroaches 0
Hornets 0
Clusterflies 2
BED BUGS 4
BLACK ANTS 0
CARPET BEETLES 0
FLEAS 0
MICE 20

Dec‐17

Sep‐17

Oct‐17

Nov‐17

1
1
1
2

8
1

43
2

24
0
0
0
0
1

0
1

4
0

40
1

57
0
0

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70

BED BUGS

CARPET BEETLES

MICE

RATS

WASPS

Hornets

BED BUGS

CARPET BEETLES

MICE

RATS

WASPS

Hornets

Ap
r‐
17

M
ay
‐1
7

Pest control April 2017 ‐ March 2018

P
age 32



MOTHS 0
RATS 58
SQUIRRELS 2
WASPS 0
Cockroaches 0
Hornets 0
Clusterflies 0
BED BUGS 2
BLACK ANTS 0
CARPET BEETLES 0
FLEAS 0
MICE 8
MOTHS 0
RATS 33
SQUIRRELS 0
WASPS 1
Cockroaches 0
Hornets 0
Clusterflies 0
BED BUGS 1
BLACK ANTS 0
CARPET BEETLES 0
FLEAS 1
MICE 9
MOTHS 0
RATS 42
SQUIRRELS 0
WASPS 0
Cockroaches 0
Hornets 0
Clusterflies 0

Jan‐18

Feb‐18

Mar‐18

0
1
1
1
1

8
1

21
0

34
0
0
0

2
0
0

3
6

1
39

0
59

3
0
0

3
0
0
1

9
0

28
0

45
0

3
0
1

0
0
0

20
0

26
0

20
0
0
0
1

0
0
1

7
1

21
1

33
0
0
0
1

0
0
0

20
1

30
0

8
3

0
0

2
0
0
0

BED BUGS

CARPET BEETLES

MICE

RATS

WASPS

Hornets

BED BUGS

CARPET BEETLES

MICE

RATS

WASPS

Hornets

BED BUGS

CARPET BEETLES

MICE

RATS

WASPS

Hornets

BED BUGS

CARPET BEETLES

MICE

RATS

WASPS

Hornets

BED BUGS

CARPET BEETLES

MICE

RATS

WASPS

Hornets

BED BUGS

CARPET BEETLES

MICE

RATS

WASPS

Hornets

BED BUGS

CARPET BEETLES

Ju
n‐
17

Ju
l‐1

7
Au

g‐
17

Se
p‐
17

O
ct
‐1
7

N
ov
‐1
7

P
age 33



0
7

0
15

2
3

0
0

2
4

0
0
0

20
0

58
2

0
0
0
0

2
0
0
0

8
0

33
0
1

0
0
0
1

0
0
1

9
0

42
0
0
0
0
0

MICE

RATS

WASPS

Hornets

BED BUGS

CARPET BEETLES

MICE

RATS

WASPS

Hornets

BED BUGS

CARPET BEETLES

MICE

RATS

WASPS

Hornets

BED BUGS

CARPET BEETLES

MICE

RATS

WASPS

Hornets

De
c‐
17

Ja
n‐
18

Fe
b‐
18

M
ar
‐1
8

P
age 34



1
1
1
2

8
1

43
2

24
0
0
0
0
1

0
1

4
0

40
1

57
0
0
0
1
1
1
1

8
1

21
0

34
0
0
0

2
0
0

3
6

1
39

0
59

3
0
0

3
0
0

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70

BED BUGS

CARPET BEETLES

MICE

RATS

WASPS

Hornets

BED BUGS

CARPET BEETLES

MICE

RATS

WASPS

Hornets

BED BUGS

CARPET BEETLES

MICE

RATS

WASPS

Hornets

BED BUGS

CARPET BEETLES

MICE

RATS

WASPS

Hornets

BED BUGS

CARPET BEETLES

Ap
r‐
17

M
ay
‐1
7

Ju
n‐
17

Ju
l‐1

7

Pest control April 2017 ‐ March 2018

P
age 35



0
1

9
0

28
0

45
0

3
0
1

0
0
0

20
0

26
0

20
0
0
0
1

0
0
1

7
1

21
1

33
0
0
0
1

0
0
0

20
1

30
0

8
3

0
0

2
0
0
0

7
0

15
2
3

0

CARPET BEETLES

MICE

RATS

WASPS

Hornets

BED BUGS

CARPET BEETLES

MICE

RATS

WASPS

Hornets

BED BUGS

CARPET BEETLES

MICE

RATS

WASPS

Hornets

BED BUGS

CARPET BEETLES

MICE

RATS

WASPS

Hornets

BED BUGS

CARPET BEETLES

MICE

RATS

WASPS

Au
g‐
17

Se
p‐
17

O
ct
‐1
7

N
ov
‐1
7

De
c‐
17

P
age 36



0
0

2
4

0
0
0

20
0

58
2

0
0
0
0

2
0
0
0

8
0

33
0
1

0
0
0
1

0
0
1

9
0

42
0
0
0
0
0

Hornets

BED BUGS

CARPET BEETLES

MICE

RATS

WASPS

Hornets

BED BUGS

CARPET BEETLES

MICE

RATS

WASPS

Hornets

BED BUGS

CARPET BEETLES

MICE

RATS

WASPS

Hornets

Ja
n‐
18

Fe
b‐
18

M
ar
‐1
8

20

317

Squirrels

Wasps

Pest control treatments April 2017 ‐ March 2018

P
age 37



33

17

13

309

1177

0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200 1400

Bed Bugs

Cockroaches

Fleas

Mice

Rats

32

16

45

44

424

1368

774

0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200 1400 1600

Bed bugs

Black ants

Cockroaches

Fleas

Mice

Rats

Wasps

Pest control treatment April 2016 ‐ March 2017

P
age 38



1

Part 1
Main author: Kirsten Roberts
Executive Member: Stephen Boulton
Ward: ALL

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 29 JANUARY 2019
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (RESOURCES, ENVIRONMENT AND 
CULTURAL SERVICES)

DEFRA’S RESOURCES AND WASTE STRATEGY- SUMMARY

1 Executive Summary

1.1 This report summarises the key aspects of the new Resources and Waste 
Strategy, published on the 18th December 2018.

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 Members are asked to note the contents of the report.

3 Explanation

3.1 This report outlines the key aspects DEFRA’s Resources and Waste Strategy 
(RWS) published on the 18th December 2018. 

3.2 The key policies are centred around a drive to increase recycling through 
increased capture of organic waste, consistent collections and extended producer 
responsibility. 

3.3 Many of the policies that are contained in the RWS are subject to consultations, 
and are likely to be publish the first consultation in late January, with key 
stakeholders that will determine whether some of the proposed policies will, or how 
they will, be implemented. Currently, the plan is to roll out different consultations 
for different aspects of the RWS over a period of months.

3.4 The table overleaf sets out the key proposals that may have an impact on the 
Council.

Item Description Comments

General

1 Proposed move away from weight-
based (tonnage) reporting to carbon-
based and/or natural accounting 
reporting.

Measurements and reporting will need 
to be in line with any new government 
policies and processes. 

Chapter 1: Extended Producer Responsibility

Page 39

Agenda Item 11



2

2 Invoke the ‘polluter pays’ principle 
and extending producer 
responsibility for packaging, 
ensuring that producers pay the full 
net costs of managing packaging 
waste at end of life.

May see a change in the overall 
composition of recycling collected at the 
kerbside, for example supermarkets 
phasing out types of plastic. This policy 
would have the most significant change 
for the retail and manufacturing 
businesses in the UK

Chapter 2: Deposit Return Schemes

3 Consult on introducing a Deposit 
Return Scheme for single-use drinks 
containers.

May see a change in the overall 
composition of recycling collected at the 
kerbside but, current expectations are 
the legislation will target the reduction of 
waste on the go (street litter). This is 
expected to be the first consultation.

Chapter 3: Consistent Collections

4 Consult on legislation to allow 
Government to specify a core set of 
materials to be collected by all local 
authorities and waste operators. 
Timings for introduction will be 
subject to discussions at spending 
review.

Will be able to make policy changes in 
terms of what materials can be recycled 
at the kerbside and are already 
collecting majority of materials that can 
be widely recycled. Officers are 
currently working on a project to 
standardise how recyclable materials 
are referred to. 
This will be consulted on. 

5 Consult on which materials should 
comprise this core set, and which 
collection systems would be most 
effective at preserving material 
quality. The consultation will be 
carried out in parallel with the 
consultation on reforms to the 
existing packaging waste regulations

This will be consulted on.

6 Consult on introducing non-binding 
performance indicators for the 
quantity of materials collected for 
recycling and minimum service 
standards for recycling.

This will be consulted on.

7 Potentially legislate for mandatory 
separate collections for business. 

The Council provide trade waste 
collections through the contracted 
streetscene services and this will 
continue in line with and legislation 
changes. 

Page 40



3

8 Consult on legislation to require 
weekly separate food waste 
collections for all householders and 
appropriate businesses

Officers are currently in the process of 
procuring a new Streetscene contract, 
to commence in April 2020, and this 
work is overseen by the Streetscene 
Procurement Board, with any service 
changes agreed by Cabinet. 
Based on a recommendation by the 
Streetscene Procurement Board, 
Cabinet have agreed to procure a 
solution that will assist the Council in 
achieving a higher recycling rate.  As 
part of the procurement, Officers have 
been exploring with bidders how the 
Council could change collection 
services to achieve a higher recycling 
rate including separate food waste 
collection. 
The final collection options will be 
confirmed at the contract award stage.

9 Consider whether householders with 
gardens should have access to free 
garden waste collections. This is 
caveated with being assessed to 
account for new burdens being 
funded appropriately.

This is likely to be consulted on. It is 
recognised by Government that garden 
waste charging has helped to support 
Council funding in the UK.

Chapter 4: Waste Crime

12 Consult on reform of regulations for 
duty of care, carrier/broker/dealers, 
hazardous waste, and international 
waste shipments.

Police/ Environment Agency/Council is 
continuing to take lead on enforcement, 
as necessary and will undertake 
enforcement in line with any new 
regulations and policies. 

4 Legal Implication(s)

4.1 The Council is the waste collection authority responsible for the collection of 
municipal waste across the borough and has a statutory duty under the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 to collect household waste.

5 Financial Implication(s)

5.1 There are no financial implications associated with the recommendation at this 
stage; however, there are a number of significant changes contained in the 
Resources and Waste Strategy, which could have material financial implications 
to the Council.  Until the detailed consultation documents are published by Defra, 
it is not possible to accurately assess the impact at this stage.

6 Risk Management Implications

Page 41



4

6.1 There are no known risk management implications associated with the 
recommendation; however, this will continue to be monitored by Officers. 

7 Security & Terrorism Implications

7.1 There are no known security & terrorism implications associated with the 
recommendation.

8 Human Resources

8.1 There are no known Human Resources implications associated with the 
recommendation.

9 Communication and Engagement

9.1 Officers will respond to consultations, as appropriate, in addition to contributing to 
any wider joint Hertfordshire Waste Partnership (HWP) responses and relevant 
professional bodies including the Chartered Institution of Wastes Management 
(CIWM) and the Local Authority Recycling Advisory Committee (LARAC).

10 Health and Wellbeing

10.1 There are no known Health and Wellbeing implications associated with the 
recommendation. 

11 Procurement Implications

11.1 There are no known procurement implications associated with the 
recommendation.

12 Climate Change Implication(s)

13.1 There are no known climate change implications associated with the 
recommendation. 

13 Link to Corporate Priorities

13.1 The report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority (Our Environment), and 
specifically to the achievement of (reducing waste and improving recycling).

14 Equality and Diversity

14.1    EqIA was not completed because this report does not propose changes to existing 
service-related policies or the development of new service-related policies.

Name of author Kirsten Roberts 01707 357177
Title Community & Environment Services Manager
Date 18 January 2019

Page 42



- 1 -

Part I
Main author: Andy Cremer
Executive Member: Fiona Thomson
Wards: All

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 29 JANUARY 2019
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING AND 
GOVERNANCE)

RESILIENCE UPDATE

1 Executive Summary

1.1 This report provides an update on the principal resilience activities that have been 
carried out by the Risk and Resilience Team over the period since the previous 
report in January 2018.

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1  That the contents of the report is noted.

3 Explanation

3.1 Local authorities are deemed ‘Category 1 responders’ under the Civil 
Contingencies Act 2004.  This legislation confers seven duties on responders, 
these being:

 Assess the risk of emergencies occurring and use this to inform contingency 
planning

 Put in place emergency plans

 Put in place business continuity management arrangements

 Put in place arrangements to make information available to the public about 
civil protection matters and maintain arrangements to warn, inform and 
advise the public in the event of an emergency

 Share information with other local responders to enhance co-ordination

 Co-operate with other local responders to enhance co-ordination and 
efficiency

 Provide advice and assistance to businesses and voluntary organisations 
about business continuity management (local authorities only)

3.2 During 2018/19 to date, the Risk and Resilience Team have undertaken, or been 
involved in, the following areas of work in fulfilment of these statutory duties:

 A full review of the WHBC Emergency Plan has been undertaken to 
incorporate new practices, procedures and doctrine.  This version has 
incorporated some planning around spontaneous volunteers and 
donations, which is a critical area of emerging practice, highlighted in 
particular by the Grenfell Tower tragedy.

 Service level business continuity plans have been reviewed to address 
structural changes and various plan administration matters.

Page 43

Agenda Item 13



- 2 -

 The WHBC Incident Control Centre Plan has been reviewed and now 
incorporates arrangements for a secondary location in case Campus East 
is unavailable.

 Our emerging partnership working with St Albans District Council to deliver 
training and exercising is ongoing and there have been some pilot joint 
training sessions.  We are planning a joint reception centre exercise in early 
2019.

 We have run trauma training for our responders delivered by a recognised 
expert in the field, Dr Anne Eyre.

 As the lead service for ‘Prevent’ (the government programme around 
countering radicalisation and extremism) the Risk and Resilience team 
continues to deliver ‘WRAP’ (Workshop to Raise Awareness of Prevent) 
sessions.  So far, around 500 people have received training and have also 
delivered it to all Welwyn Hatfield Police Community Support Officers.

 In December we held a session delivered by external speakers on the 
underpinning ideologies for radicalisation, together with a counter narrative.  
This session has been run before and was extremely well received due to 
the in depth knowledge of the speakers, who are both government 
approved intervention providers under the ‘Prevent’ scheme, with extensive 
experience of working with Islamist and far right extremists.

 We are at the early stages of integrating our WRAP workshops with those 
for Child Sexual Exploitation and Modern Slavery and hope to have a new 
package ready for April 2019.

 We have co-operated fully with the Police on Prevent cases during the year 
and the Risk and Resilience Manager sits on the county Prevent Board. 

 Training has been delivered to the Corporate Management Team on their 
roles as Strategic or Tactical Commanders during an incident.

 The Risk and Resilience Team, once again delivered sessions to year six 
pupils as part of the Crucial Crew programme.  The theme of the session 
was one of home preparedness, where pupils were asked to pick the items 
they would have in a home grab bag in case of evacuation.  This ties in with 
the county wide ‘Ready for Anything’ campaign.

 In terms of incidents there have been no callouts during the year.  

 The council continues to play a full role in the affairs of the Local Resilience 
Forum, Hertfordshire Resilience, both in its standing groups and also any 
ad-hoc projects and consultations that are carried out under the LRF 
banner.  

 The Risk and Resilience team have been fully involved in the Safety 
Advisory Team through the year, and the Risk and Resilience Manager 
chairs this for particular events.

 The Risk and Resilience Team appointed an Apprentice in May 2018.  The 
post holder is making a very positive impact in terms of the team’s work.

Page 44



- 3 -

 The team promoted business continuity to local companies at a business 
breakfast meeting organised through the council’s Economic Development 
Manager.

Implications

4 Legal Implication(s)

4.1  The duties conferred by the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 are detailed in 
paragraph 3.1 above.

5 Financial Implication(s)

6 Financial Implication(s)

6.1 None directly arising from this report, though of course emergencies occurring 
within the borough are likely to have significant financial impacts.

7 Risk Management Implications

7.1 Corporate resilience is listed as one of the council’s strategic risks and this includes 
a failure to have robust systems in place to meet the duties under the Civil 
Contingencies Act.

8 Security & Terrorism Implication(s)

8.1 The Prevent duty has been imposed under the Counter Terrorism and Security Act 
2015.  Project ‘Griffin’ is not a statutory requirement upon local authorities.

8.2 The work around both Prevent and Project ‘Griffin’ fulfil different strands in terms 
of counter terrorism, aiming to both prevent radicalisation and extremism, and to 
raise awareness of the key issues in terms of organisational and personal 
preparedness and resilience.

9 Procurement Implication(s)

9.1 None.

10 Climate Change Implication(s)

10.1 The changing climate is likely to lead to increasing severe weather events (such 
as flooding and snowfall) that can have resilience implications.

11 Human Resources Implication(s)

11.1 None.

12 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s)

12.1 None.

13 Communication and Engagement Implication(s)

13.1 Work such as Crucial Crew are important ways of engaging with particular groups.

Page 45



- 4 -

14 Link to Corporate Priorities

14.1  The subject of this report is linked to the corporate priority ‘maintain a safe and 
healthy community’ and also to statutory requirements under the Civil 
Contingencies Act and the Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015.

15 Equality and Diversity

15.1 An EqIA was not completed because this report does not propose changes to 
existing service-related policies or the development of new service-related 
policies.

Name of author Andy Cremer 01707 357169
Title Risk and Resilience Manager
Date December 2018

Page 46



- 1 -

Part I
Main author: Cheryll Brown 
Executive Member: Fiona Thomson 
All Wards

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 29 JANUARY 2019
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING AND GOVERNANCE)

SERVICE STANDARDS FOR REGULATORY WORK

1 Executive Summary

1.1 This report asks members to agree to a consultation on potential updates to the council’s 
adopted standards for regulatory work carried out by various council teams. These 
standards were originally adopted in 2014 and link with the council corporate enforcement 
policy and the central government Regulators Code. As the service standards apply to a 
number of services they were developed on a corporate basis through the Heads of 
Service Team. In view of the production of the new corporate customer service strategy, 
it is now timely to consult on the regulatory service standards to check they are still valid. 
Once the consultation is complete, any suggested changes will be brought back to 
committee for discussion. 

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 For members to agree the current regulatory service standards (at appendix A) are 
released for consultation (in accordance with appendix B) and that the results of the 
consultation be brought back to committee for discussion so that an updated set of 
regulatory service standards may be prepared.

3 Explanation

3.1 The council carries out a number of regulatory and enforcement roles as provided by 
statute. 

3.2 The council is obliged to have a set of service standards for its designated regulatory work, 
across a number of service areas. In 2014 the Heads of Service team prepared the set of 
regulatory service standards in appendix A. These service standards were agreed, put in 
place and published on the council website by “spring 2014” in order to meet the 
requirements in the Regulators Code. 

3.3 The council is currently reviewing its customer service strategy and it is necessary that 
these regulatory service standards will feed into this review, it is therefore timely to consult 
on these service standards to check they remain valid, current and up to date.  

3.4 Members are therefore asked to agree that such consultation takes place.

Implications

4 Legal Implication(s)

4.1 The council is obliged to have due regard to the “Regulators Code” from central 
government when developing policy around its designated regulatory functions. One of 
the requirements of the code is that the council produces a set of service standards for 
regulatory work and places them on the council website. It is good practice, from time to 
time, to check that these standards remain valid.  

5 Financial Implication(s)

5.1  None directly arising from this report. 

Page 47

Agenda Item 14



- 2 -

6 Risk Management Implications

6.1 The risks related to this proposal are:

6.2 Failure to produce and follow a set of regulatory service standards creates a risk to the 
council’s reputation. The council is also open to challenge and adverse audit findings.  It 
is good practice to from time to time, to check that these standards remain valid.  

7 Security and Terrorism Implication(s)

7.1  None directly arising from this report

8 Procurement Implication(s)

8.1 None directly arising from this report

9 Climate Change Implication(s)

9.1  None directly arising from this report 

10 Human Resources Implication(s)

10.1  None directly arising from this report 

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s)

11.1  None directly arising from this report 

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s)

12.1 The report proposes consultation with a range of relevant stakeholders, however the 
council has limited control as to whether stakeholders wish to engage with the council.

13 Link to Corporate Priorities

13.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priorities “our community”, 
“our environment” and “our council”, and is linked to a statutory requirement, the 
Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006 as amended.

14 Equality and Diversity

An EqIA was not completed because this report does not propose changes to existing service-
related policies or the development of new service-related policies.

Name of author Cheryll Brown 01707 357207
Title Team Leader (Public Health & Protection)
Date December 2018

Appendices to be listed 

A: Current regulatory service standards (as shown on council website) 

B: List of proposed consultees 

Page 48



Appendix A

REGULATORY SERVICE STANDARDS

Here are the service standards for our regulatory work.  They have been prepared in 
accordance with the Governments regulators code. 

What can you expect from us? 
We will:

 tell you your rights and signpost you to where you may get independent advice
 respect your confidentiality where possible 
 be polite and listen to your views 
 treat you with courtesy, fairness, honesty and respect
 be realistic about what we can and cannot do 
 have suitably qualified and trained staff carrying out regulatory activities
 follow our enforcement policy 
 help and support you in developing your business 
 not place unnecessary burdens in your way

How will we communicate with you?
We aim to provide you with clear information advice and guidance; using appropriate 
communication to the situation.  This may be:

 letters
 emails
 phone calls
 information on our website
 social media
 face to face conversation

We will generally produce information in English; however in certain situations we may 
decide it is necessary to translate things into another language. All relevant information 
held will be treated in accordance with our data protection policies.

How can you help?
You can help us do our jobs effectively by:

 listening to our officers
 providing paperwork and material in the timescales we request
 treating our officers with courtesy and respect

What does it cost?
Some of our regulatory work requires you to pay a fee.  You will be informed of the 
relevant fee when applicable.

Our fees are reviewed every year but sometimes the government requires us to charge 
you a specific fee over which we have no control.  

Page 49



Appendix A

Our approach to compliance 
In carrying out our regulatory work we follow government guidance and our own 
enforcement policy.  This includes:

 using national methods for assessing risk 
 determining how often inspections and checks will be made 
 any follow-up resulting from inspections and checks

Further details are in our enforcement policy. Website Link to be added….. 

If you want to complain:
If you have a complaint about the way we have provided our service or treated you, 
you can make a complaint direct to the council. Complaints received will be managed 
in line with the council’s Complaints Policy. 

If you are dissatisfied with the outcome of your complaint, you may be able to have 
your complaint reviewed by an independent Ombudsman service.

The council provides an impartial route to review a regulatory decision or failure to 
follow the regulators code.  This review will be undertaken by an officer not involved 
in the case.  Requests for such a review should be made by contacting the relevant 
Head of Service (details are on the our website, or can be obtained from our contact 
centre) 

In some cases you have a right of appeal to a Court or Tribunal; this is different from 
a complaint and may have strict timescales.  It is your responsibility to seek appropriate 
advice in this regard. 

Feedback:
We welcome and value your views about the way we work.  You can provide feedback 
to us in the following ways:

 through our complaints, comments and compliments system (see separate 
leaflet)

 by responding to our consultations
 by joining the borough panel
 direct to our staff or managers 
 through our elected members (Councillors) 

Our contact details are:

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 
Council Offices
The Campus 
Welwyn Garden City 
Hertfordshire
AL8 6AE

Tel 01707 357000
Email contact-whc@welhat.gov.uk

Page 50

mailto:contact-whc@welhat.gov.uk


Appendix B

Proposed Consultees

Council Customer Service Strategy Group

Heads of Service Team

Borough Panel

Residents Panel

Elected Members

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman

Herts Chamber of Commerce

Federation of Small Businesses

Herts Growth Hub

Herts Better Business for All

Welwyn Hatfield Business Forum

Parish Councils

Welwyn Garden City Society

Gascoigne Cecil Estates

Tesco

Ocado

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Part I
Main author: Cheryll Brown
Executive Member: Fiona Thomson
All Wards

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW SCRUTINY COMMITTEE– 29 JANUARY 2019
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PLANNING, PUBLIC PROTECTION 
AND GOVERNANCE)

EAT OUT EAT WELL UPDATE

1 Executive Summary

1.1 A progress update regarding the delivery of Eat Out Eat Well healthy eating award 
within Welwyn Hatfield.

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 For members to note the contents of this report.

3 Explanation

3.1 Eat Out Eat Well is a healthy eating award for food businesses compliant with food 
hygiene and food standard legislation.  The award promotes and encourages 
businesses to offer healthier food choices.  The award is inclusive of most 
businesses that sell food, with the exception of those that provide exclusively for 
children or the elderly, this is because their dietary needs are different.

3.2 Members previously agreed to lead by example by starting this project in Council 
operated facilities. As such Campus West and Mill Green Museum were both 
encouraged to participate in the award.  Both businesses have subsequently 
achieved a bronze award and have recently completed nutrition training.  This 
training provides additional points within the assessment process and increases 
their knowledge of the relationship between diet and health and wellbeing; along 
with The Eatwell Guide, which is the Government nutritional guidelines.

3.3 There remains a limited number of businesses that have been assessed within the 
scheme and officers are developing their own knowledge of the assessment 
process with each application.

3.4 Businesses scoring a Food Hygiene Rating score of ‘5’ (Very Good) have been 
targeted by direct communication but this has not been found to engage business 
interest in the award.  All of the businesses assessed so far have been identified 
by food officers and face to face contact has proven to be the most effective means 
of engagement.

3.5 The award itself is difficult to achieve and has required all the businesses involved 
to make changes to their food and/or cooking methods to achieve the bronze 
award.  This does deter some businesses who want to be seen to achieve a gold 
award immediately, but this award is striving to make changes and improvements 
and as such is not designed to be easy to achieve.

3.6 A significant achievement in the last few months has been to get accreditation from 
The Royal Society of Public Health to deliver a level 2 Nutrition for Health 

Page 53

Agenda Item 15



- 2 -

qualification.  We are the only local authority in Hertfordshire offering this training, 
which is available to all residents.

3.7 Officers have designed and written a course following nutrition training they 
undertook earlier in the year, to build upon existing qualifications.  The course is 
designed to cover a wide health syllabus and is delivered through a variety of 
teaching methods.

3.8 The first course was delivered in November 2018 and was well received with 
positive feedback.  All candidates passed the examination and there was positive 
press coverage through the Welwyn Hatfield Times online.

3.9 Being in a position to offer this training is important to future businesses 
participating in Eat Out Eat Well as attendance by a business and cascading 
information learnt to food handlers achieves extra points within the assessment.

3.10 We have scheduled three more dates for training over the next six months and we 
will be advertising the course through all internally accessible media channels.  
The charge for the course is consistent with the ongoing food hygiene level 2 
training provided by Public Health & Protection at £65 for residents and £70 for 
those outside the Borough.  This is a competitive rate for a classroom course.

3.11 In summary whilst there has been a slower uptake in the scheme than we expected 
this is not an initiative that will achieve immediate change and improvement.  We 
will increase our publicity of the scheme and aim to raise public awareness in the 
forthcoming months.  In addition food officers will be reminded of the value of them 
encouraging participation with compliant food businesses.

3.12 Those businesses involved so far have been very receptive and are making 
positive changes that impact upon the community.

Implications

4 Legal Implication(s)

4.1  This project will be delivered as part of the public health district offer from 
Hertfordshire County Council.

4.2 This project also supports the government’s Childhood Obesity Plan for action 
published in August 2016.  http://tinyurl.com/h4pawkv

5 Financial Implication(s)

5.1  None directly arising from this report; there is a budget allocated to the delivery of 
this project within the district offer.

5.2 Whilst it is difficult to measure the cost saving to society achieved by this 
intervention, most public health interventions are highly cost effective. There are 
however a myriad of different factors that influence a person’s health within their 
lifetime and the impact of this intervention may also take many years to come to 
fruition.

5.3 There are no negative costs associated for business participation in the award, 
some cost savings may be made by using alternative healthier food products.

Page 54



- 3 -

6 Risk Management Implications

6.1 The risks related to this proposal are:

6.2 The Council is at risk from criticism from central government if it does not design 
food environments within public sector buildings, services and spaces that makes 
the easy choices also the healthy ones, as specified in the Childhood Obesity Plan.

6.3 The public are at risk if the council does not take any action to intervene in reducing 
obesity in the resident population.

6.4 Our work with local business, especially small and medium sized enterprises helps 
the local economy and business growth, thereby mitigating associated risks.

6.5 The work of the public health and protection service is considerably broad with the 
underlying theme of protecting the public. Therefore it is inevitable that in order to 
make best use of resources some work will be prioritised over other work. 
Sometimes the priorities afforded to work by officers using their professional 
judgement may not match the perceived priorities allocated by members of the 
public, and this mismatch can result in complaints to local councillors, MPs and 
the Ombudsman. 

7 Security and Terrorism Implication(s)

7.1  Food security is a recognised risk1 and environmental health work and the 
council’s role as a category 1 responder under the Civil Contingencies Act can 
assist with the mitigation of this risk.

8 Procurement Implication(s)

8.1  There are no procurement implications.

9 Climate Change Implication(s)

9.1  None directly arising from this report, although there are links between climate 
change, food hygiene and availability.  

10 Human Resources Implication(s)

10.1 None arising from this report.

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s)

11.1 Obesity is a national epidemic and is already having a significant impact on the 
health of the nation.  In Welwyn Hatfield we have the highest proportion of obese 
children aged 4-5 (jointly with Broxbourne) in Hertfordshire and between 2016/18 
and 2017/18 our borough saw the largest increase in obese children in this age.  
Our borough also saw the largest increase in children with excess weight 
(overweight and obese) in Hertfordshire in the same time period, and the highest 
proportion of obese female pupils.  

11.2 Whilst Eat Out Eat Well does not seek to target children specifically, the evidence 
collected of reception aged children demonstrates that obesity is an issue for 

Page 55



- 4 -

residents of this borough and we need to carry out interventions to try and reverse 
the excess weight trend. One in every six meals is now eaten out of the home.  
This award aims to help residents identify healthier food choices when eating out 
in Welwyn Hatfield.

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s)

12.1 Greater promotion of the scheme is needed for both businesses and residents, 
this will be achieved through press releases, articles in Life magazine and 
promotion through social media predominately.  We will also seek to engage local 
commerce groups for example the Federation of Small Businesses.

13 Link to Corporate Priorities

13.1  The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority 
‘Our Community’, and specifically to the achievement of ‘Improving Public Health 
and Wellbeing’.

14 Equality and Diversity

14.1 An EqIA was not completed because this report does not propose changes to 
existing service-related policies or the development of new service-related 
policies.

Name of author Cheryll Brown 01707 357207
Title Team Leader (Public Health & Protection)
Date December 2018

Page 56



- 1 -

Part I
Main author: Ann MacDonald
Executive Member: Stephen Boulton
All Wards

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 29 JANUARY 2019
REPORT OF CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING AND 
GOVERNANCE)

DEFRA CONSULTATION – PROTECTING AND ENHANCING ENGLAND’S TREES 
AND WOODLANDS.

1 Executive Summary

DEFRA are seeking views on the UK government’s proposals to introduce four 
new measures designed to increase transparency and accountability in the 
process of felling street trees and to strengthen the Forestry Commission’s power 
to tackle illegal tree felling.

The consultation period closes on 28th February 2018.

2 Recommendation(s)

That the committee comments on this report and then authorises the Head of 
Planning and Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance), in 
consultation with the Executive Member for Environment, to respond to the 
consultation.

3 Explanation

The consultation contains four proposals, two of which introduce new duties on 
local authorities, which are:

1 a duty to consult on the felling of street trees
2 a duty to report on tree felling and replanting

The third proposal suggests the production of best practice guidance to support 
local authorities in the preparation of a Tree and Woodland Strategy.

The fourth and final proposal intends to give the Forestry Commission more 
powers to tackle illegal tree felling and strengthen protection of wooded 
landscapes.

  
We currently do much of what is being suggested in the draft best practice 
guidance, all of which is covered within the adopted Trees and Woodlands 
Strategy: 2017 – 2022.  It may be that new best practice guidance will 
influence the revision of this document in 2022, or prompt us to an earlier 
revision if our strategy varies widely from the new standard.

However, the biggest issue is the requirement to consult on the felling of street 
trees.  The government believes that there is a need for greater community 

Page 57

Agenda Item 16



- 2 -

engagement in decision making affecting street trees and intends to introduce a 
duty on local authorities to consult.  

The consultation closes on 28th February and invites written replies to fifteen 
questions.  The questions and WHBCs proposed replies are attached as a 
background paper. 
 
With regard to the Agency Agreement that exists between WHBC and 
Hertfordshire County Council, through which WHBC manages HCC Highway 
street trees, it will be important to establish with the County Council where the 
duty to consult lays.  If HCC wish it to be within the Agency Agreement, then a 
revised agreement and a new financial allocation to the Tree Management 
Service must be negotiated. 

4 Implication(s)

If the government imposes any duties as a result of this consultation, then there 
will be an impact on workload.   

5 Legal Implication(s)

5.1 If these proposed duties are introduced there will be a legal requirement on the 
Council to implement them.

6 Financial Implication(s)

6.1 If any of the options in the consultation become duties it will have implications on 
work load.  It may not be possible to handle the level of consultation and 
subsequent discussion with respondents with the current number of Tree 
Officers.  Should a duty be imposed for the consultation on loss of privately 
owned trees through the planning system, then there could be an impact on the 
planning administration team.

7 Risk Management Implications

7.1 There are no risk management implications associated with this report.

8 Security & Terrorism Implication(s)

8.1 There are no security or terrorism implications associated with this report.

9 Procurement Implication(s)

9.1 There are no procurement implications associated with this report.

10 Climate Change Implication(s)

10.1 An aim of this consultation is the recording and maintenance of a percentage of 
urban tree cover in England.  Trees help to mitigate against the impact of a rise in 
temperature in urban areas. 

11 Link to Corporate Priorities

11.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Business Plan 2018-2021 and 
particularly Priority 2 Our Environment to enhance our green spaces and manage 
the borough’s parking.

Page 58



- 3 -

12 Equality and Diversity

12.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out in connection with 
the proposals that are set out in this report. 

Name of author Ann MacDonald 01707 357233
Title Landscape and Ecology Manager
Date 17 January 2019

Background papers  

WHBC’s proposed replies to DEFRA consultation – protecting and enhancing England’s 
trees and woodlands.

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



BACKGROUND PAPER 

WHBC’S PROPOSED REPLIES TO DEFRA CONSULTATION – PROTECTING AND 
ENHANCING ENGLAND’S TREES AND WOODLANDS.

Q1. Should a duty for local authorities to consult on the felling of street trees be 
introduced? Please give reasons for your response.

There should be a duty for local authorities to consult on the felling of street trees. As 
a local authority we wish to make it clear why tree removals are being undertaken and 
give an opportunity for those effected by the works to comment and ask further 
questions.

Q2 Do you agree with the proposed scope of the duty to consult? Please give 
reasons for your response.

No. It was considered that the some of the most important and significant trees are 
often located with parks and public opens spaces within urban areas. The document 
does not consider New Towns or Gardens Cities where significant trees are planted 
in planned open spaces within the urban areas. The inclusion of trees within parks and 
open spaces would be welcomed.

Q3 Do you agree with government’s preferred approach of a closed consultation 
with trigger point? Please give reasons.

(The proposed options are:

 Option A: Full Consultation; Consult on every tree proposed for felling 
during a four week consultation period. A notice inviting consultations to 
be placed on the tree, letters sent to local residents in close proximity to 
the tree (100m2), and a notice published in the town hall and online.

 Option B: Closed consultation; Consult on every tree proposed for felling 
during a four week closed consultation period. A notice inviting 
consultation to be placed one the tree, letters sent to local residents in 
close proximity to the tree (100m2).

 Option C: Closed Consultation with trigger point; Consult on every tree 
proposed for felling during a four week closed consultation period. A 
notice inviting consultation to be placed one the tree, letters sent to local 
residents in close proximity to the tree (100m2). If more than 50% of 
respondents on the closed consultation disagree with the proposal this 
will trigger a full public consultation. (This is the governments  preferred 
option).

There are concerns about the resources required to administer Options C as this is a 
two phase process. This approach would require significantly more amount of officer 

Page 61



time and may considerably increase the time taken to consult. The preferred option is 
Option A which notifies the wider public from the outset.

Q4 In what circumstances do you think a tree should be exempt from the duty 
to consult? Please give reasons for your response

Dead and Dangerous trees.

Responding to a pest or disease instance.

Young trees damaged or failed.

The above options require a quick response and will need to be removed regardless 
of any consultation.

Q5 Do you think it is appropriate that trees of special historic or cultural 
significance are subject to a more rigorous consultation process? Do you agree 
with the criteria for designating a tree of special historic or cultural significance 
Are there any other categories which should be included?

A more rigours process is considered appropriate for significant and/or historic as 
these may have local, regional and national importance. 

The criteria proposed for designating a tree of special historic and/or cultural 
significance is considered appropriate.  

Further categories for consideration are: trees which are rare because of their species 
and/or size.

Q6 Do you think the duty to consult will have any negative impacts on 
development? 

It is not considered that the duty consult will have a significant effect on major 
developments. There may be some minor issues where access is required across a 
highway verge in which trees are growing.

Q7 Should consultations be done on an individual basis or in groups of trees 
where, for example, trees are planted in the same location?

Where there are groups of trees to be removed it is considered appropriate to consult 
on the groups rather than each tree individually. This would optimise officer time and 
be more efficient.

Q8  Should a duty on local authorities to report on tree felling and planting be 
introduced? Please explain the reasons for your answer.

Yes, for urban trees that are managed by the local authority. However it would be very 
difficult to monitor and report on felling as a result of planning decisions and felling as 
a result of interventions on trees with Tree Preservation Orders. Often planning/TPO 
consent is given which includes the removal of trees and is not carried for some time 
after the decision notice. In addition landscape schemes may be conditioned and not 
be finalised or complete until serval years after the approval has been given.

Page 62



Q9 Which trees would it be useful to report on? Please explain the reasons for 
your answer.

Trees in urban areas managed by the local authority. The local authority can easily 
monitor its own tree stock.

Trees on private land, those removed/planted as part of a planning consent or TPO 
application are very difficult to monitor and would require more resources. It is 
considered that these trees should not be include in the duty to report on tree felling 
and planting.

Q10 What information do you think local authorities could gather and hold? 
Please explain the reason for your answer?

Date of felling/planting

Location of tree

Job number 

Species of tree

Reason for felling

The above information is considered sufficient to assess the amount of planting and 
felling being carried within a borough or district.

Q11 How could local authorities present this information? Should national 
government play a role in collating and managing information?

As a local authority we capture tree information, of the trees we manage, via a specific 
tree database (Ezytreev). It is easy to extract the information required from database 
and present it serval formats. 

It would be useful to have some guidance from national government as to how they 
would like the information presented.

Q12 Do you agree the Tree and Woodland Strategies help local authorities and 
the public to manage their trees and woodlands? Would best practise guidance 
be sufficient for local authorities and the public?

As a local authority with an adopted Trees and Woodland Strategy we agree that it is 
a helpful management tool and sets out clear policies on how trees and woodlands 
are managed. 

It is consider that there should be a requirement/duty for those authorities without a 
tree strategy to produce in strategy in accordance with any national guidance.

Q13 Do you agree with the suggested content for best practice guidance for 
Tree and Woodland Strategies? Please give reasons for your response.

The content suggested for inclusion for best practice guidance for a strategy is 
considered sufficient to enable appropriate tree and woodlands management policies 
to be implemented.

Page 63



It would however be useful to include the health and wellbeing benefits of trees and 
woodland within the general benefits of trees and woodlands.

Q14 (Forestry enforcement measurements) Do you support these measures?

Yes

Q15 (Forestry enforcement measurements) Do you think any other measures 
are necessary to combat illegal tree felling?

It is considered that the no other measures are necessary to combat illegal felling.

   

Page 64



- 1 -

Part I
Main author: Cheryll Brown
Executive Member: Fiona Thomson
All Wards

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 29 JANUARY 2019
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PLANNING, PUBLIC PROTECTION 
AND GOVERNANCE)

COMMUNITY TOILET SCHEME

1 Executive Summary

1.1 A report to consider the implementation of a community toilet scheme with Welwyn 
Hatfield.

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 For members to consider whether a community toilet scheme should be developed 
and implemented, and for officers to work up the potential options for 
consideration.

3 Explanation

3.1 A member has raised concerns about the lack of toilet provision for customers in 
a retail food business that has eat in facilities in two local shopping parades. The 
member has highlighted a need for toilet provision particularly in these local 
parades of shops for vulnerable groups such an older people, pregnant women 
and the disabled.

3.2 There is no legal requirement for either the Council or the food business to provide 
customer toilets.

3.3 To address the concern raised preliminary investigation has been undertaken into 
the provision of a community toilet scheme as an alternative means of meeting the 
needs of the community.

3.4 Public toilets are often a topical issue in the national media as many local facilities 
have been closed due to the significant costs associated in maintaining and 
operating stand-alone facilities.  The need for access to clean facilities is however 
championed by charities such as Help the Aged, Crohn’s & Colitis UK and 
Disability Rights UK and the member organisation, British Toilet Association.  The 
needs are identified with regard to health and wellbeing, equality, social inclusion 
and privacy and public decency.

3.5 It has been found that investment in good toilet provision can increase retail 
turnover, tourist numbers and economic growth.  A community toilet scheme may 
therefore be beneficial to both business and residential customers.

3.6 The Local Government Act 2000 recommends that community strategies should 
be used to enhance the quality of life for local communities.  A community toilet 
scheme could be considered relevant.  

Page 65

Agenda Item 17



- 2 -

3.7 There has been no customer complaints regarding a lack of provision of public 
toilets to Public Health and Protection outside of this request, and community 
engagement may therefore need to be considered.

3.8 A lack of publically accessible toilets can lead to dirty streets and public health 
issues but there is no evidence to support this locally.

3.9 Community toilet schemes are operational in the neighbouring boroughs of 
Hertsmere and East Herts as well as in Welwyn which is operated by the Parish 
Council in partnership with The White Hart PH.

Implications

3.10 Local businesses are paid a small annual fee to open their toilets for public use.  
This fee is dependent on the facilities offered under the scheme per organisation. 
For example a single unisex toilet would attract the smallest fee; separate male 
and female toilets, a disabled toilet and baby changing would attract the greatest 
fee.  Council facilities may be paid a smaller flat fee.

3.11 A community toilet scheme enables local businesses like pubs, restaurants and 
shops, to work with the Council to make more clean, safe and accessible toilets 
available to the public. 

3.12 Members of the public can use toilet facilities during the premises opening hours 
and without any obligation to make a purchase.

3.13 Participating businesses would display a CTS sticker in their window.  This may 
be complimented by street signage to clearly display the operation of the scheme 
in a particular area.  

3.14 The fee payable to participating businesses would need to be determined and 
periodically reviewed.  The fee will reimburse any extra cleaning costs incurred by 
increased footfall.  In Hertsmere an annual budget of approximately £15,000 is 
currently allocated towards the ongoing delivery of an existing scheme.  Both 
Hertsmere and East Herts pay fees on a sliding scale up to £1000 per business.

3.15 A contractual agreement must be drawn up and agreed between the business and 
the Council to participate in a community toilet scheme.

3.16 Facilities must be inspected before becoming part of a scheme and subject to 
regular, unannounced inspection to ensure they meet the contractual standards, 
and customer expectations.

3.17 A communication and marketing plan would need to be prepared to support a 
launch and for ongoing promotion of a scheme.

3.18 Even with a financial incentive there is no obligation or compulsion for business to 
participate in a scheme and therefore the amount of uptake is currently unknown.  
Engagement with the business community may be required to determine the level 
of interest in each ward or across the borough.

3.19 Developing and implementing a community toilet scheme will have resource 
implications for the Council in officer time in addition to any budget that would need 
to be created to pay participating businesses.  

Page 66



- 3 -

4 Legal Implication(s)

4.1 There is no legal duty for the Council to provide public conveniences or support a 
community toilet scheme.

5 Financial Implication(s)

5.1 Should a community toilet scheme be introduced funding would potentially need 
to be found to support participating businesses, and fund advertising and local 
media coverage, maps, leaflets, and signage.  Additional officer time would need 
to be funded or changes made to service priorities for both the management of the 
scheme and the payment of fees to businesses.  Cost remain to be qualified.

6 Risk Management Implications

6.1 The risks related to this proposal are:

6.2 Facilities within a community toilet scheme may not comply with the Disability 
Discrimination Act.  The businesses willing to take part in a community scheme is 
unknown, as is their current DDA compliance as this is not enforced by the Council.

6.3 Customer complaints due to lack of toilet provision.  The impact of this is reputation 
risk but the likelihood of complaints is low based on current demand.

7 Security and Terrorism Implication(s)

7.1 A community toilet scheme may raise anti-social behaviour issues or criminal 
damage in participating businesses but this is not considered to be a significant 
risk.

8 Procurement Implication(s)

8.1 None identified.

9 Climate Change Implication(s)

9.1 None identified.

10 Human Resources Implication(s)

10.1 Should members determine that work should commence in researching and 
preparing the proposal of a community toilet scheme CMT will need to determine 
which team is best placed to take this forward.

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s)

11.1 A community toilet scheme may have health benefits to vulnerable groups within 
the community and encourage social inclusion.

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s)

12.1 Community engagement may be required to determine local need for a community 
toilet scheme prior to financial investment.

Page 67



- 4 -

12.2 In order to achieve maximum uptake of a community toilet scheme by both 
business and residential customers it will be necessary to promote the scheme 
locally.  Communication of the scheme itself and availability of facilities.

13 Link to Corporate Priorities

13.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority 
‘Our Community’, and specifically to the achievement of ‘Promoting Inclusive and 
Safe Communities’ and ‘Improving Public Health and Wellbeing’.

14 Equality and Diversity

14.1 An EqIA has not been completed because this report does not propose changes 
to existing service-related policies and does not in itself propose change but for 
the consideration of a community toilet scheme.  

14.2 Should a community toilet scheme be agreed to be implemented an EqIA would 
need to be completed.  It is anticipated that there would be positive impacts for 
older people and the disabled, but it is not known whether all facilities would be 
accessible to the disabled.

Name of author Cheryll Brown 01707 357207
Title Team Leader (Public Health & Protection)
Date December 2018

Background Papers

Example of Hertsmere’s Community Toilet Scheme contract

Example of East Herts Community Toilet Scheme Terms and Conditions

Page 68



HERTSMERE BOROUGH COUNCIL

PUBLIC USE OF PRIVATE TOILET FACILITIES AGREEMENT 
(COMMUNITY TOILET SCHEME)

THIS IS AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNCIL and THE SERVICE 
PROVIDER with regard to the public having use of the Toilets provided by the 
Service Provider at the property during normal opening hours in return for an 
annual payment by the Council SUBJECT TO THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
SET OUT OVERLEAF

COMMENCEMENT DATE …………………………………………

SERVICE PROVIDER Name of Company…………………………………..
(Please print)

Address.………………………………………...

…………………………………………………...

…………………………………………………...

Telephone number ……………………………

THE OWNER (if applicable) (Name) ………………………………………….
The freeholder at the Service Provider’s 
Property Name, address and telephone number

THE PROPERTY The toilet facilities at the Service Providers Property

THE COUNCIL The Hertsmere Borough Council of Civic Offices 
Elstree Way Borehamwood Hertfordshire WD6 1WA

LICENCE PERIOD For the term of one year from the Commencement 
Date and thereafter from year to year until determined 
in accordance with this Agreement

ANNUAL SUM £………………… Per annum

The Service Provider (with consent of the Owner (if applicable)) and the Council
agree to the terms and conditions set out in this Agreement

SIGNED BY …………………………………..  (Signature)
                     (Print Name)

For and on behalf of the Service Provider in the presence of :-

SIGNED BY ………………………………………………
The Council’s Duly Authorised Officer DATE …………………………………………….. 

Page 69



TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE COMMUNITY TOILET SCHEME

1. RIGHTS GRANTED
In consideration of the payment by the Council to the Service Provider of the Annual Sum:-

1.1 The council for the benefit of the general public shall be permitted access to and use of the 
Toilets during the opening hours of the Service Provider’s Property during the Licence Period.

1.2 The Service Provider /Proprietor retains the right in exceptional circumstances to refuse a 
member of the general public admission to their premises and/or use of their toilet facilities.

1.3 The Council shall erect and maintain at its own expense advertising signs manufactured by the 
Council (in keeping with current signage)

1.4 The Council shall have the right to carry out occasional inspections of the Toilets with the 
Service Provider.

2. ANNUAL SUM
2.1 In consideration of the covenants on the part of the Service Provider contained herein the 

Council shall pay the Service Provider the Annual Sum.
2.2 The Annual Sum shall be payable by the Council within 21 days of the anniversary of the 

Agreement.

3. SERVICE PROVIDER’S COVENANTS
The Service Provider agrees with the Council as follows:-

3.1 To display at least one sign showing its membership of the scheme on such window(s) or 
door(s) of its property to be agreed with the Council so as to be clearly visible to the public.

3.2 The Toilets shall be maintained in a clean and hygienic condition AND shall be adequately
provided with toilet rolls, soap and hand dryers/hand towels by the Service Provider.

3.3 Neither the Service Provider nor its employees shall in any circumstances hold itself or 
themselves out as being a servant or agent of the Council or as being authorised to enter into 
any contract or in any other way bind the Council to performance variation release or discharge 
of any obligation.

3.4 That the Service Provider will indemnify the Council against all the Service Provider’s legal 
liability and costs arising out of or in connection with this licence.

3.5 That the Service Provider will during the duration of this licence effect and thereafter maintain 
public liability insurance at a level of at least £2,000.000 (two million pounds) for any one event 
or series of related events.

3.6 The Service Provider shall supply to the Council forthwith and upon each renewal date of any 
relevant policy, a certificate from their insurers or brokers confirming that the Service Provider’s 
insurance policy complies with the licence requirements.

4. DETERMINATION
This licence may be determined immediately and absolutely upon:-

4.1 Any breach of the terms of this licence; and/or 
4.2 Non-payment of the annual sum: and/or
4.3 Either party at any time giving the other party at least (2 months) prior written notice to expire at 

any time. The Council shall be reimbursed the Annual Sum on a pro rata basis on termination 
of the licence, e.g. if the licence expires 6 months after the commencement date, or subsequent 
anniversary, half of the annual sum shall be repaid.  Repayment shall be made within 28 days 
of the expiry date:
But without prejudice to any right of action which may have accrued to either party.

5. ASSIGNMENT
5.1 This licence is personal to the Council and shall not be assigned by the Council to any other 

Person.

6. VAT
6.1 The Council shall pay VAT on the annual sum and any other payment due under this Licence 

where it is properly payable.

Page 70



EHDC CTS Agreement - 2010 

 
 
 

PUBLIC USE OF PRIVATE 
TOILET FACILITIES 

AGREEMENT 
 

(COMMUNITY TOILET SCHEME) 
 
 
 

This is an agreement between THE COUNCIL and THE SERVICE PROVIDER with 
regard to the public having use of the Toilets provided by the Service Provider at the 
Property during normal opening hours in return for an annual payment by the Council 
SUBJECT TO THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS SET OUT OVERLEAF. 
 
PARTICULARS 
 

1. COMMENCEMENT DATE:       2010 
 

2. SERVICE PROVIDER:  
  Name of Company:  

 
  Address: 
 
  Tel: 
 
 
  Email: 
 

3. THE PROPERTY: 
 

4. THE TOILETS:  
  The toilet facilities at the Service Provider’s Property 
 

5. COUNCIL:  
  East Herts Council  

  Wallfields 
  Pegs Lane 
  Hertford 
  Hertfordshire 
  SG13 8EQ 
 

6. LICENCE PERIOD:  
For the term of one year from the Commencement Date and thereafter 
from year to year until determined in accordance with this Agreement 

 
7. THE ANNUAL SUM:  
  (£600 / £700 / £900 / £1000) per annum  

  (Delete as applicable) 

Page 71



EHDC CTS Agreement - 2010 

 
8. COMMUNITY TOILET SCHEME:  

An initiative designed to improve the quality of toilet facilities within the 
town centres of the five main towns of East Herts to the mutual benefit 
of the general public and traders. 

 
9. COMMUNITY TOILET SCHEME AREA: –  

Within the town centre area of the five main towns of East Herts: 
• Bishop’s Stortford 
• Buntingford 
• Hertford 
• Sawbridgeworth 
• Ware 

 
 
The Service Provider (with the consent of the Owner (if applicable)) and the Council 
agree to the terms and conditions set out in this Agreement: 
 
 
SIGNED BY: 
 
 
 
(Print Name)  
For and on behalf of the Service Provider in the presence of:-  
 
 
 
SIGNED BY: 
 
 
 
Cliff Cardoza  
Head of Environmental Services 
 
(The Council’s Duly Authorised Officer.) 
 

Page 72



EHDC CTS Agreement - 2010 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 
 
1. RIGHTS GRANTED 
 In consideration of the payment by the Council to the Service Provider of the 

Annual Sum:- 
 
1.1 The Council for the benefit of the general public shall be permitted 

unobstructed access to and use of the Toilets at the Property during the 
opening hours of the Service Provider’s Property during the Licence Period. 

 
1.2  The Service Provider retains the right in exceptional circumstances to refuse a 

member of the general public admission to their premises and / or use of their 
toilet facilities. 

 
1.3 The Council shall erect hereto and maintain at its own expense personalised 

“Finger” advertising signs designed and manufactured by the Council AND at 
least one such sign shall acknowledge the Community Toilet Scheme AND the 
signs shall also include a statement that the Toilets are only available during 
the opening hours of the Service Provider’s Property. 

 
1.4  The Council shall erect and maintain at its own expense standard direction 

signs to the Toilets on posts in the locality of the Community Toilet Scheme 
Area. The location, size and content of signs shall be at the Councils 
discretion and subject to planning and highways authority approval. 

 
1.5  The Council shall have the right to carry out inspections of the Toilets with the 

Service Provider. 
 
 
2.  ANNUAL SUM  
 
2.1  In consideration of the conditions on the part of the Service Provider contained 

the Council shall pay to the Service Provider the Annual sum. 
 
2.2 The Annual Sum shall be reviewed annually and any increase will be effective 

from 1 April. 
 
2.3 The parties will be required to participate in a three month trial period; either 

party may terminate the trial period by serving one week's notice on the other. 
The Service Provider will be paid £300 out of the annual sum to participate in 
the trial period, on the successful completion of the trial scheme and on 
condition both parties wish to continue with the agreement the service provider 
will be paid the remainder of the annual sum in accordance with section 2.4    

 
2.4 The Annual Sum shall be payable 3 months in advance and shall be paid by 

the Council within 30 days of receipt of the Service Provider’s demand. 
 

Page 73



EHDC CTS Agreement - 2010 

2.5 The Annual Sum shall be varied in accordance with any increase or decrease 
in the number of toilet facilities available at the Toilets as per the range of fees 
agreed and shown in the policy document. 

 
2.6 The Council can suspend payment in the event the facilities are unavailable to 

the public, such as renovation work taking place, damage to premises. 
 
2.7 The Council has the right to recover monies paid in error by the Council to the 

service provider. 
 
 
3. SERVICE PROVIDER’S COVENANTS 
 The Service Provider agrees with the Council as follows:- 
 
3.1 To display a sign showing its membership of the Scheme on such window or 

door of its Property to be agreed with the Council so as to be clearly visible to 
the public.  Signage is to be supplied by the Council. 

 
3.2 The Toilets shall be maintained in a clean and hygienic condition, with clutter 

free access AND shall be adequately provided with bins, and sanitary bins, 
toilet rolls, soap and hand dryers / hand towels by the Service Provider. 

 
3.3 Neither the Service Provider nor its employees shall in any circumstances hold 

itself or themselves out as being a servant or agent of the Council or as being 
authorised to enter into any contract or in any other way bind the Council to 
performance variation release or discharge of any obligation. 

 
3.4 The Service Provider agrees that they will not discriminate against anyone on 

the basis of race, religion, gender, sexual orientation, age or disability. 
 
3.5 That the Service Provider be responsible for maintaining the facilities and 

making good any repairs that need doing in order for the facilities to be fit for 
public use. 

 
 
4. DETERMINATION 
 This Licence may be determined immediately and absolutely upon:- 
 
4.1 Any breach of the terms of this Licence; and/or 
 
4.2 Non-payment of the Annual Sum within 28days; and/or 
 
4.3 Either party at any time giving the other party at least (2 months) prior written 

notice to expire at any time. 
 
4.4 The Council shall be reimbursed the Annual Sum on a pro rata basis on 

termination of the license.  Repayment shall be made within 28days of the 
expiry date. 

 

Page 74



EHDC CTS Agreement - 2010 

4.5 But without prejudice to any right of action which may have accrued to either 
party. 

 
 
5. ASSIGNMENT 
 
5.1 This Licence is personal to the Council and shall not be assigned by the 

Council to any other person. 
 
 
6. VAT 
 
6.1 The Council shall pay VAT on the Annual Sum and any other payment due 

under this Licence where it is properly payable. 
 
 
7. LAW 
 
7.1 The formation, existence, construction, performance, validity and all other 

aspects whatsoever of this License or any term of this Licence will be 
governed by English law, the Courts of England will have exclusive 
jurisdiction. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I
Main author: James Vaughan
Executive Member: Fiona Thomson
All Wards

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
ENVORNMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 29 JANUARY 2019
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING AND 
GOVERNANCE)

REVIEW OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

1 Executive Summary

1.1 The Hackney Carriage Office with the aid of a sub-committee and members of the Residents panel 
were requested to review the terms and conditions relating to Hackney Carriage vehicles. This was 
to focus on the inclusion of wheelchair accessible vehicles (WAVs) in the borough.  At this point 
terms and conditions have been arrived at and are to be agreed by the sub-group on 10th January 
2019.

2 Recommendation

2.1 For the Committee to consider the proposed draft conditions in Appendix A and agree they are 
released for consultation as set out in Appendix B, and the results of the consultation brought back 
to Committee for consideration.

3. Explanation

3.1 The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee set a task and finish group to consider proposed 
revision to the Hackney Carriage Terms and Conditions.

3.2 The Taxi Terms and Conditions Sub Group has met on a number of occasions and has received 
updates on the law, results of survey, the potential “need” for wheelchair accessible vehicles, 
benchmarking data from neighbouring local authorities and has also viewed a range of wheelchair 
vehicles.

3.3 As a result a draft set of revised terms and conditions has been drawn up and are shown in Appendix 
A.

3.4 It is important that all key stakeholders are given the opportunity to comment on the proposed 
conditions and a list of proposed consultees is shown in Appendix B.

3.5 Members are asked to consider the draft conditions and agree for them to be released for 
consultation.

3.6 Members will note that the proposed revised conditions also includes conditions relating to vehicle 
livery, this is because of a potential “need” identified which would contribute towards public safety.

4. Legal Implications

4.1 Any proposed revised terms and conditions is a decision for Council or a designated Council 
committee to approve.

4.2 The proposed conditions will carry the risk of legal action that any person aggrieved may appeal to 
the magistrate’s court. Any judicial review challenge in relation to the decision making process must 
also be considered as a risk.

4.3 Failure to consider and promote access under the Equality Act 2010 could be challenged at court 
by any person aggrieved.

Page 77

Agenda Item 18



5. Financial Implications

5.1 Legal costs should any person launch a legal challenge.

6. Risk Management Implications

6.1 The risks related to this proposal are any legal challenge which may arise in relation to the validity 
of the proposed conditions or validity of the decision making process.

6.2 Failure to consider and promote access to protected persons under the Equality Act could be a 
reputational risk to the Council as well as any legal challenge brought by any person under the 
Equality Act.

7. Security and Terrorism Implications

7.1 None

8. Procurement Implications

8.1 None

9. Climate Change Implications

9.1 The proposed draft conditions will result in a cleaner taxi fleet in the long term.

10. Health and Wellbeing Implications

10.1 Under the Equality Act 2010 the Council must be seen to promote access and eliminate barriers in 
relation to discrimination.

10.2 The safety of public users of vehicle must also be considered.

11. Communication and Engagement

11.1 Once the revised terms and conditions have been consulted upon, officers will assist members in 
determining a timetable for the adoption and implementation of the revised conditions.  This will 
include a full communication plan.

12. Link to Corporate Priorities

12.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority 
(Maintain a safe and healthy community), and specifically to the
achievement of improve and maintain the health and wellbeing of residents.

13. Equality and Diversity

13.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out in connection with the 
proposals that are set out in this report.

Name of Author James Vaughan 01707 357982
Title Hackney Carriage Officer
Date 18 December 2018

Background Papers:

Appendix A Proposed revised taxi terms and conditions
Appendix B Consultees to be included

Page 78



Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle Conditions.

STANDARD CONDITIONS FOR THE LICENSING OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE 
VEHICLES BY VIRTUE OF SECTION 47 OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
(MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1976.

Any vehicle presented for licensing must comply with the following conditions.

1 General

The vehicle, at all times being a Hackney Carriage must be:

(a) safe
(b) tidy
(c) clean
(d) And comply with all relevant statutory provisions, requirements and 

subordinate legislation at all times.

The proprietor and driver of a vehicle will ensure that the vehicle is maintained 
to a high standard of appearance and cleanliness, both on the exterior and 
interior.  They must also ensure that it is mechanically safe, reliable and all 
ancillary equipment is carried in a serviceable condition. They are also to 
ensure that any driver is fully trained and conversant in regard to all 
safety features including the loading and unloading of passengers 
confined to a wheelchair.  This training must be completed by a Council 
approved trainer.

2 Specification

2.1 The vehicle shall be a purpose built vehicle in line with ECWVTA – M1 type 
approval.  It must be capable of carrying, loading and alighting a person 
confined in a wheelchair in safety. This specification will also apply to any 
transfer of a vehicle licence including accidental damage.

2.2 The vehicle must have a side loading or rear loading door that enables 
the wheelchair user to be safely loaded into the vehicle.

2.3 The vehicle shall be fitted with the appropriate access equipment for the 
vehicle make and model and must be kept with the vehicle at all times.

2.4 Where the internal floor height of the vehicle exceeds 12inches (305mm) 
Intermediate steps shall be fitted every 9 inches (228mm) from road level 
up to the internal floor height.  All steps will be capable of carrying the 

Page 79



weight of an adult and be permanently affixed to the vehicle.  All steps 
must be illuminated.

2.5 The vehicle shall be of all one standard colour ( colour to be decided after 
consulatation) and display WHBC Crests on the front driver and front  
passenger doors. (Crests will be issued initially free of charge, there will 
be a charge for any replacement crests).

2.6 The vehicle must be capable of carrying not less than four passengers plus a 
person confined to a wheelchair but no more than eight passengers.  This 
is to be referred to as four plus one passengers.

2.7 The vehicle shall be of right-hand drive manufacture and not converted as so. 

2.8 All vehicles must have adequate leg and foot-room, shoulder-width and head-
height for all passengers.

2.9 The vehicle shall comply with Euro 6 emission standards.

2.10 The vehicle glass is to be kept clear of all obstructions. 

3 Vehicle Licence Plates

3.1 The vehicle licence plates, including an internal plate, are to be affixed to the 
vehicle, with the bracket supplied by the Hackney Carriage Office in a position 
determined by the Authorised Officer. 

3.2 The licence plates shall display the number of passengers that the vehicle may 
carry the vehicle registration number and date of expiry of the Licence. 

3.3 No plate may be removed from any vehicle, under any circumstances, without 
the prior permission of the Hackney Carriage Office.

3.4 Only an Authorised Officer or any Constable may remove a licence plate from 
a Hackney Carriage if the vehicle licence is suspended.

3.5 The plate remains the property of the council at all times. It must be returned to 
the Council on written request within seven days of being notice to do so.

Page 80



4 Tyres and Spare Wheel

4.1 Tyres will be all of either radial or cross-ply manufacture, including the spare 
wheel.

4.2 Where the manufacturer supplies a ‘space saver’ type spare wheel, all 
guidance to its use must be adhered to.  The ‘normal’ tyre is to be repaired and 
refitted as soon as is practical, but before the vehicle is’ hired’ again.

4.3 All tyres are to be in a state of good repair and comply with the construction and 
use regulations in force.

4.4 If a spare wheel is not carried, as may be with LPG converted vehicles and with 
the permission of the Authorised Officer, the vehicle must be fitted with ‘Run 
flat’ tyres.

5 Age of vehicles

5.1 No Vehicle shall be licensed if it is over four years old from first date of 
registration.

5.2 All vehicles are to be licensed for a period of 1 year.  If in that year they attain 
the age of ten years from first date of registration, they will only be licensed to 
that date.

5.3 The Licence fee will be charged pro-rata to the nearest full months if a vehicle 
is to be licensed less than a year.

6 General Condition of the vehicle

6.1 The interior of the vehicle must remain clean and tidy at all times.

6.2 The exterior of the vehicle must remain clean and free of any ‘impact’ or other   
damage at all times.

Page 81



6.3 The luggage compartment must be maintained in a clean and tidy condition 
with no extraneous items, only essential tools as supplied by the manufacturer 
may be carried.  

6.4 Where a vehicle is utilised for the carriage of passengers in a wheelchair 
access to and exit from the wheelchair position must not be obstructed 
in any manner at any time except by wheelchair loading apparatus.

6.4 The carriage within the luggage compartment of lubricants, washing fluids, or 
other extraneous items is forbidden whilst the vehicle is plying for hire.

7 Roof and For Hire Signs

7.1 Roof and ‘For Hire’ signs must meet the approval of the Council and be 
capable of   being illuminated in conjunction with the taximeter. They are 
to be integral to the vehicle build and not detachable.

8 Inspection of Vehicles

8.1 Vehicles aged below one year do not require a certificate of compliance until 
one year has elapsed since the first date of registration.

8.2 Vehicles aged one year to three years from date of first registration will be 
tested annually at an authorised testing station.

8.3 Vehicles aged three years to ten years will be tested every six months at an 
authorised testing station.

8.4 All vehicles must obtain a Certificate of Compliance test at an authorised testing 
station within 28 days prior to the date of renewing, granting or transferring of 
a vehicle Licence.

8.5 All fees for vehicles inspections are to be paid direct to the authorised garage 
at the time of inspection or re-inspection.

8.6 Fees may be charged for re-inspections at the discretion of the authorised 
testing station.

Page 82



9 Taximeters

9.1 Taximeters are to be of a type or model and positioned to the approval of the 
Hackney Carriage Office.

9.2 All taximeters are to be calibrated up to the Council’s maximum tariff and a 
certificate of calibration supplied at the time of sealing the taximeter.

9.3 The meter is to be used at all times when a journey commences and concludes 
within the Welwyn and Hatfield Borough.

9.4 An authorised fare card is to be displayed at all times whilst a Hackney Carriage 
vehicle is plying for hire.

9.5 It must be positioned within the vehicle so as to allow passengers a clear   
unhindered view.  

10 Fare Cards

10.1   An authorised fare card is to be displayed at all times.

11 Accidents

11.1 All accidents involving a Hackney Carriage, whether on hire or not, must be 
reported to the Hackney Carriage Office within a maximum of 72 hours from the 
time of its occurrence. This must be done in writing.

12 Advertising

12.1 No more than two external advertisements are to be displayed on a vehicle and 
must be approved by the Authorised Officer.

12.2 Advertisements must be confined to the rear side passenger doors and must 
be approved by the Authorised Officer.

12.3 No advertisement or other matter whatsoever may be displayed on any 
windows of the vehicle.

Page 83



13 Fire Extinguisher 

13.1 A fire extinguisher with a dry powder capacity of not less than 1kg will be 
provided within the vehicle at all times and must be within date.

13.2 Any extinguisher shall conform in all respects to the British Standards Institute.

14 Fees

14.1 Fees, once paid are not refundable.

14.2 Fees maybe varied from time to time in accordance with statute, to meet the 
reasonable cost of all matters relating to the licensing of Hackney Carriage.

15 Two way Radio and Data Heads

15.1 All two-way radios and data heads are to be fitted to the fabric of the vehicle in 
a secure manner.  They are not to impinge on the safe operation of the vehicle.

15.2 No telecommunication equipment of any kind (excluding ‘hands free’) is to be 
used whilst the vehicle is being driven.

16 Ramps and Stowage

16.1 All luggage must be safely and securely stowed.

16.2    All ramps and accessibility equipment must be carried at all times in a manner 
that is safe and easily accessible for use.

16.3   It is the driver’s responsibility to ensure all passengers are safe throughout their 
journey, including loading and unloading. All safety equipment must be used.

17 Documentation

17.1 All vehicle proprietors at the time of granting, renewing, transferring ownership 
or changing vehicles must supply the following documentation;

(1) Vehicle registration document (VQ5)

(2) Certificate of Compliance obtained within 28 days of the grant, transfer 
or renewal of Licence.

Page 84



(3) A valid certificate of insurance designated for ‘public hire’. Spouses or 
other unlicensed drivers may not be included on the policy. 

(4)  In the case of a transfer a letter from the current proprietor of the vehicle 
authorising the transfer of the vehicle Licence. 

(5) Wheelchair accessible vehicle driver training certificate.

18 Certificate of Insurance

18.1 All insurance certificates must state ‘Public Hire and Reward’.

Interpretation

For the purpose of these conditions.

The ‘Authorised Officer’ means an officer of the Council of the Welwyn and Hatfield 
Borough council for the time being authorised in writing by the Council for the purpose 
of Part ll of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 or the Town 
Police Clauses Act 1847.

Note:-

The Council being in possession of a certificate of exemption granted by the Secretary 
of State for Transport is required to issue a certificate of compliance in respect of each 
licensed Hackney Carriage operating within the Borough.

By virtue of the said certificate of exemption, the council may not accept anything other 
than a certificate of compliance as evidence of the satisfactory condition of the vehicle, 
which is to be licensed. 

The test may only be carried out at a testing station appointed by the council and 
authorised by the Department of Transport. The test must be at least to M.O.T. 
standard before the certificate can be issued. When presenting the vehicle for 
licensing, re-licensing or transferring you must ensure that the date of issue of the 
certificate of compliance is not more than 28 days prior to the date of issue of the 
Licence.

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

CONSULTEES TO BE INCLUDED

All currently licensed drivers

All currently licensed operators

Blue light services

Community halls and centres

General Public

Housing and residential associations

Hotel and hospitality

National and local disability groups

National and local charities

NHS and health groups

Other places of local interest (e.g village halls, churches)

Residential care homes

Social clubs and associations

Schools

Sports and leisure groups

Transport centres

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
OVERVIEW WORK PROGRAMME 2018-19 – Updated 29 January 2019

Meeting Date Report Topic Author (s)

12-Mar-19
 

 

 Performance Indicators Q3 Grace Crawford
 Food Safety Service Plan 2019/20 Cheryll Brown
 Health and Safety Service Plan 2019/20 Cheryll Brown
 Noise Update - Operation Reprise and Balsam Jeanette Hollingsworth-Biggs
 Economic Development Activity Lisa Devayya

The Sustainable Transformation Plan Progress Update Jeanette Hollingsworth-Biggs
Parking Permit Strategy Vikki Hatfield
Draft Allotment Strategy Ann MacDonald

 Climate Change Update Andy Cremer/Jeanette Hollingsworth-Biggs
 Action Update Report Helen Johnson
 Work Program Helen Johnson

June 2019 TBC  

 Performance Indicators Q4 and Annual Report Grace Crawford
 Environment Services Annual Performance Report (including Q3 & Q4) Durk Reyner
 CP Plus Vikki Hatfield

John O'Connor performance Vikki Hatfield 
 Action Status Report Helen Johnson
 Work Program Helen Johnson

P
age 89

A
genda Item

 19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 91

Agenda Item 27
By virtue of paragraph(s) 2, 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 ACTIONS UPDATE
	8 PERFORMANCE INDICATORS QUARTER TWO
	8a - EOSC Performance Indicator Presentation

	9 DRIVEWAY KEEP CLEAR POLICY AND PRICING STRATEGY
	10 PEST CONTROL UPDATE
	10a - Pest control stats April 2017 - March 2018

	11 DEFRA'S RESOURCES AND WASTE STRATEGY- SUMMARY
	13 RESILIENCE UPDATE
	14 SERVICE STANDARDS FOR REGULATORY WORK
	14a - Current Reg Standards Appendix A
	14b - Reg Service standards appendix B

	15 EAT OUT EAT WELL UPDATE
	16 DEFRA CONSULTATION - PROTECTING AND ENHANCING ENGLAND'S TREES AND WOODLANDS
	16a - DEFRA Protecting and enhancing England's trees and woodlands

	17 COMMUNITY TOILET SCHEME
	17a - Hertsmere Community Toilet Scheme contract
	17b - East Herts CTS Terms  Conditions - 2010

	18 REVIEW OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE TERMS AND CONDITIONS
	18a - APPENDIX A - Proposed Revised Taxi Terms and Conditions
	18b - APPENDIX B Consultees to be included

	19 COMMITTEE OVERVIEW WORK PROGRAMME 2018/19
	27 HACKNEY CARRIAGE ENFORCEMENT REVIEW 2017-2018

